
- 1 - 

 
BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW BOARD 

 
TUESDAY 27TH JULY 2010 AT 6.00 P.M. 

 
THE COUNCIL HOUSE, BURCOT LANE, BROMSGROVE 

 
MEMBERS: Councillors S. R. Colella (Chairman), Mrs. M. Bunker (Vice-

Chairman), Mrs. R. L. Dent, Mrs. J. M. L. A. Griffiths, 
Mrs. C. J. Spencer and L. J. Turner  
 

 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. To receive apologies for absence  
 

2. Declarations of Interest and whipping arrangements  
 

3. To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Overview Board 
held on 1st June 2010 (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

4. Worcestershire Older People's Strategy - Presentation (Pages 5 - 14) 
 

5. Planning Peer Review - Presentation from I&DeA (Pages 15 - 58) 
 

6. Forward Plan of Key Decisions - 1st August 2010  to 30th November 2010 (for 
information only) (Pages 59 - 66) 
 

7. Work Programme (Pages 67 - 80) 
 

8. To consider any other business, details of which have been notified to the 
Head of Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services prior to the 
commencement of the meeting and which the Chairman considers to be of so 
urgent a nature it cannot wait until the next meeting  



- 2 - 

 
 K. DICKS 

Chief Executive  
The Council House 
Burcot Lane 
BROMSGROVE 
Worcestershire 
B60 1AA 
 
16th July 2010 
 



 

B R O M S G R O V E  D I S T R I C T  C O U N C I L 
 

MEETING OF THE OVERVIEW BOARD 
 

TUESDAY, 1ST JUNE 2010 AT 6.00 P.M. 
 
 
 

PRESENT: Councillors S. R. Colella, Mrs. M. Bunker, Mrs. J. M. L. A. Griffiths and 
L. J. Turner 
 

 Observers: Councillor D. L. Pardoe and Councillor C. R. Scurrell 
 

 Invitees: Ms. A. Jones (Cluster Manager, Extended Services, 
Worcestershire County Council) 
 

 Officers: Mr. J. Godwin, Mr. M. Carr and Ms. A. Scarce 
 

 
 

1/10 ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN  
 
RESOLVED that Councillor S. R. Colella be elected as Chairman of the Board 
for the ensuing municipal year. 
 

2/10 ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRMAN  
 
RESOLVED that Councillor Mrs. M. Bunker be elected Vice-Chairman of the 
Board for the ensuing municipal year. 
 

3/10 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Mrs. R. Dent and Mrs. 
C. J. Spencer.  It was noted that a nomination to the Board had not yet been 
received from the Labour Group. 
 

4/10 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND WHIPPING ARRANGEMENTS  
 
No declarations of interest or whipping arrangements were received. 
 

5/10 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the Overview Board held on 27th April 2010 were submitted.  
Members referred to Minute No. 71/09 and asked whether a response to the 
questions asked, had been received from Worcestershire County Council and 
Network Rail.  Officers confirmed that questions had been submitted but that a 
response had not yet been received through the Executive Director for 
Planning and Regeneration, Regulation and Housing Services (PRRH). 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes be approved as a correct record. 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Overview Board 
1st June 2010 

 

6/10 PPG17 OUT-TURN - BRIEFING PAPER  
 
The Chairman reminded Members that at the Overview Board meeting held on 
2nd June 2009 a report was received on PPG17 Out-Turn and that it had 
been resolved that the item be referred back to the Overview Board in 12 
months’ time in order to assess the delivery of services in respect of PPG17. 
 
The Head of Leisure and Cultural Services presented an update and 
responded to Member questions, with particular reference to: 
 

Ø The works undertaken in respect of parks and gardens. 
Ø Outdoor sports facilities 

 
After discussion it was 
 
RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 

7/10 ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR AND ALCOHOL FREE ZONES TASK GROUP 
REVIEW  
 
The Board considered the Anti-Social Behaviour and Alcohol Free Zones Task 
Group 12 month review report. 
 
The Head of Leisure and Cultural Services provided additional information and 
answered Member questions on the recommendations, and in particular on 
the following areas: 
 

Ø The effectiveness of Designated Public Place Orders (DPPOs) and 
available alternatives. 

Ø The use of CCTV and the restrictions of the Code of Practice. 
Ø Preventative actions and partnership working. 
Ø The work of the Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership (CDRP). 
Ø Communicating to residents the positive actions the Council has taken. 

 
The Board discussed the difficulty in the implementation and measurability of 
recommendations 2, 3 and 4.  Members agreed that residents’ concerns in 
respect of Anti-Social Behaviour could be addressed through the Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Board.  After further discussion it was  
 
RESOLVED that the update report be noted. 
 

8/10 COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT IN LOCAL DEMOCRACY TASK GROUP 
DRAFT REPORT (TASK GROUP CHAIRMAN: COUNCILLOR L. J. 
TURNER)  
 
The Chairman welcomed Ms. Allie Jones, Cluster Manager (East 
Worcestershire) Extended Services, Worcestershire County Council, who 
confirmed that she had been involved in the Task Group and her team would 
be happy to working in partnership with the Council and co-ordinate the work 
required under recommendations 8 and 9. 
 

Page 2



Overview Board 
1st June 2010 

 

Councillor L. J. Turner, the Chairman of the Community Involvement in Local 
Democracy Task Group presented the draft report to the Board setting out the 
aims and objectives of the Task Group, evidence and witnesses and topics 
covered by the recommendations.  The Chairman of the Task Group informed 
Members that the over all financial cost of implementation of the 
recommendations had been kept to a minimum.  The Chairman of the Task 
Group responded to questions from Members.  It was also highlighted that, 
together with the 16 recommendations, the Task Group had included within 
the report suggested improvements that could be made to enhance the 
recommendations further.  The Task Group had recommended that a steering 
group be set up in order to ensure the implementation of the 
recommendations throughout the year and to maintain the momentum in 
involving the community in local democracy. 
 
After lengthy discussion, Members agreed that the suggestion for procedures 
to be considered to allow members of the public to participate at committee 
meetings, paragraph 4.6 of the report, should be emphasised.   
 
The Board thanked the Task Group Chairman, Members and Scrutiny Officer 
for producing an excellent report, covering this extensive subject in such a 
short period of time.   
 
RESOLVED: 
(a) that subject to the minor amendments, requested during the meeting, 
 the report and recommendations be approved; and 
(b) that the report be submitted to Cabinet for approval of the report  
 recommendations.  
 

9/10 WORCESTERSHIRE OLDER PEOPLES' STRATEGY  
 
The Board were advised that a representative from Worcestershire County 
Council (WCC) would be attending the meeting on 29th June 2010 to give a 
presentation on the WCC Older Peoples’ Strategy and were asked to consider 
key questions Members would wish to put forward to the representative.   
 
RESOLVED: 
 
(a) That the following questions be raised: 

1. Who is the strategy aimed at and what are the priorities? 
2. What organisations are involved in the delivery of the strategy? 
 To what extent is district level delivery included in the strategy? 
 How does this relate to Bromsgrove? 
3. What are the key targets and performance indicators of the 
 strategy, including LAA targets?  What is the current 
 performance trend against these? 
4. What is the consultation plan for the strategy?  How are district 
 councils involved?  
5. What are the funding streams for delivery of the strategy? 
6. What is the needs assessment by geographical area? 
7. How is housing provision included within this strategy? 

Page 3



Overview Board 
1st June 2010 

 

8. The Hub is being provided with access to an online directory 
 “Carewise”.  What information is available in the community and 
 will this include district level information? 

 
(b) that the relevant Portfolio Holder be invited to attend the Board meeting 
 on 29th June 2010, for this item. 
 

10/10 GARDEN WASTE SERVICES - FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS  
 
The Board were advised that the Head of Environmental Services had been 
asked to attend the meeting on 29th June 2010 to discuss future 
developments of the Garden Waste Services and it was felt appropriate for 
Members to prepare a series of questions that they would like the Head of 
Environmental Services to answer.   
 
RESOLVED: 
(a) that the following questions be raised: 

1. What consultation arrangements are planned before any 
 decisions are made on future developments? 
2. What is the optimum take up of these services? How many 
 households? 
3. What are the marginal costs of increased take up?  Are there 
 any economies of scale? 
5. Can you provide details of the Income and Expenditure of green 

  waste  service? 
 6. Are there national targets for green waste services which we 
  have to achieve and if so how are we performing against these? 
 7. Is there any customer satisfaction feedback for these services? 
 

(b) that the relevant Portfolio Holder be invited to attend the Board meeting 
 on 29th June 2010, for this item. 
 

11/10 FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 1ST JUNE TO 30TH SEPTEMBER 
2010 (FOR INFORMATION ONLY)  
 
The Board considered the Forward Plan.  Members raised concerns over the 
apparent slippage which had occurred with the Arts and Events Strategy.  
Officers advised Members that the strategy had been reviewed by the Scrutiny 
Board at a meeting earlier in the year and the cause of the slippage was 
outside of the Council’s control.  Officers undertook to provide Members with a 
copy of the relevant minute for information. 
 

The meeting closed at 8.15 p.m. 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 4



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  

 

 

REPORT TITLE  
 
Development of New Worcestershire Older People's Strategy  
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Councillor Margaret Sherrey - Portfolio 

Holder for Children and Young People, 
Older People and the Vulnerable.   

Head of Service for Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Claire Felton - Head of Legal, 
Equalities and Democratic Services 

Relevant Head of Service Hugh Bennett - Director of Policy, 
Performance and Partnerships 

Key Decision / Non-Key Decision  
 
1.  SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 Worcestershire's Joint Commissioning Unit for adult services is leading on 

development of a new Older People's Strategy for the county. The strategy 
will cover the period 2010-15 and will consider the needs and aspirations of 
people aged 50 years plus. The successful delivery of this strategy will be 
dependent on the active engagement of District Councils working in 
partnership with other key statutory, voluntary and private sector agencies.   

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 That Members of the Overview Board consider how the District 

Council can support delivery of the outcomes, objectives and priority 
actions proposed for the new Older People's Strategy for the county.  

 
2.2   That Members support officer representation from Bromsgrove District 

Council on the countywide groups shaping development of the new 
strategy, to be representative of the district perspective.  

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 There are currently two countywide strategies that relate to the care and  
 support needs of older people:  
 

• Joint Commissioning Strategy for Older People – focus on dedicated 
health and social care services (2005-09) 

• Older People's Strategy – wider focus on a broader range of services 
such as those delivered by District Councils, Cultural and Community 
services and the Voluntary Sector (2006-10)      

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  

 

 

3.2  The scope of the new single strategy will extend beyond dedicated health 
and social care to cover services such as those provided by District 
Councils that have a direct impact on the quality of life or health and 
wellbeing of older people, but this scope will be narrow enough to enable 
effective evaluation of the strategy's impact.  

 
3.3  The strategy will be 'high level' and draw together the aims and objectives 

(direction of travel) of relevant service strands but will not address in detail 
their delivery or commissioning intentions as these will be covered in 
separate plans or strategies eg. for older people’s housing, supporting 
people services, transport, and dementia.  

 
3.4  The strategy will be shaped by the Older People's Consultative Group,  

given it's formal links with joint commissioning governance structures, and 
it's detail informed by a smaller Project Group of key representatives. 
District Council representation on both of the groups needs to be reviewed 
to ensure we have suitable membership.     

 
3.5  The draft strategy has been developed in the following way:  
 

• membership of Consultative Group enhanced  
• Project Group established to inform detail of the strategy  
• review of existing strategies to identify progress and gaps 
• consultation with older people's forums, representatives from BME 

communities, and the Older People's Voluntary Sector Services 
Network 

• workshop with consultative group members to identify objectives and 
priority actions  

• first draft of strategy reviewed by Project Group and Consultative 
Group    

 
3.6  A number of key themes have emerged from the work completed.     
 
Target Audience  
 

• those aged 50 years plus ie prevention agenda  
• self funders and those with needs below eligibility thresholds where they 

apply ie information and advice 
• harder to reach groups ie isolated older people in rural areas   

 
Strategic Outcomes and Objectives  
 

• quality of life / health & wellbeing  

Page 6



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  

 

 

• maintaining independence in the home 
• prevention    
• offering choice 
• personal responsibility   

 
Structure of Support  
 

• mix of low level preventative support, short term rehabilitation support, and 
long term care and support  

• develop social or community capital as well as service delivery   
• deliver targeted short term personalised support based on the assessed 

needs of people rather than offering one size fits all long term care  
 
Partnership Working   
 

• complement other strategies  
• focus on joined up working at strategic and operational levels between 

housing, social care, health, district council and voluntary sector agencies   
 
Evaluation  
 

• detail the framework and agree measurable outcomes to enable 
assessment of quality and impact over its duration  

 
3.7   The next stage is to secure approval for the direction of travel  

recommended from key commissioning groups within the County Council 
and NHS Worcestershire. We will then firm up the detail of the strategy 
with partners to develop a revised draft for further review by the Project 
Group and Consultative Group in September. We will then seek formal 
sign off before the end of the calendar year with public consultation 
planned for early 2011. The aim is to launch the strategy in April 2011.  

 
4. KEY ISSUES 
 
4.1 Consultation on the new draft Older People's Strategy for the county.   
 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 None.   

 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 None.   

Page 7



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  

 

 

 
7. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1  The development of new county wide strategy for services to older people, 

including consideration of how Bromsgrove District Council can support the 
strategy.   

 
8. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 Objective 3: One Community.   
  
9. RISK MANAGEMENT INCLUDING HEALTH & SAFETY 

CONSIDERATIONS 
  
9.1  None. 
 
10. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 The delivery of services to older people in the District.   
 
11. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 The consideration of how the county strategy will impact on older people in 

the District.   
 
12. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT AND ASSET 

MANAGEMENT 
 
12.1 None.   
 
13. CLIMATE CHANGE, CARBON IMPLICATIONS AND BIODIVERSITY 
 
13.1  None.   
 
14. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
  
14.1 None.   
 
15. GOVERNANCE/PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
  
15.1 None.   
 
16. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS INCLUDING SECTION 17 OF 

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 

Page 8



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  

 

 

  
16.1 None.   
 
17. HEALTH INEQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
  
17.1 None.  
 
18. LESSONS LEARNT 
 
18.1  None.   
 
19. COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
19.1  Consideration of how District Councils are being consulted on the draft Old 

Peoples’ Strategy for the County.   
 
20. OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

NO 

Chief Executive 
 

NO 

Executive Director (S151 Officer) 
 

NO 

Executive Director – Leisure, Cultural, 
Environmental and Community Services 
 

NO 

Executive Director – Planning & Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing Services  
 

NO 

Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships 
 

YES 

Head of Service 
 

NO 

Head of Resources  
  

NO 

Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic 
Services 
 

NO 

Corporate Procurement Team 
 

NO 

 

Page 9



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  

 

 

 
 
 
 
21. WARDS AFFECTED 
 
 All. 
 
22. APPENDICES 
  

Appendix 1 - Bromsgrove District Council Over view Board Questions with 
Answers 

 
23. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 Worcestershire Older People Strategy (Draft).   
 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name: Keith Hoare - Joint Commissioning Officer - Joint Commissioning Unit, 
Worcestershire County Council.   
   
E Mail: khoare@worcestershire.gov.uk  
Tel: 01905 822631 
 
Name: Michael Carr – Scrutiny Officer 
E Mail: m.carr@scrutiny.gov.uk  
Tel: 01527 881407  
 

Page 10



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  

 

 

Appendix 1 - Bromsgrove District Council Scrutiny Panel Questions with Answers 
 

Overview Board Questions - June 2010   
 

1. Who is the strategy aimed at? What are the priorities? 
 
Who 

• older people within the county   
• representative groups and individuals for older people  
• commissioners of services that impact on the quality of life / health and wellbeing 

of older people  
• providers of services that impact on the quality of life / health and wellbeing of 

older people  
 
Priorities 

• information and advice 
• self care and community support  
• low level support in the home  
• supported housing  
• rehabilitation support 
• mental wellbeing and dementia  

 
• develop partnership working to meet agreed outcomes  
• meet outcomes set by older people – quality of life / health and wellbeing  
• shift resources to early intervention and low level support   
• maintain or enhance independence at home  
• offer information and advice to all older people to inform choices  
• ensure equity of provision where required and tackling of inequality of outcomes   

 
2.              What organisations are involved in the delivery of the strategy? To what 
extent is 
 district level delivery included in the strategy? How does this relate to 
 Bromsgrove? 
 
Organisations 

• County Council - Adult Social Care, Culture and Learning, and Community 
Safety/Supporting People services  

• Primary Care Trust  
• Acute Hospitals Trust  
• Public Health 
• District Councils  
• Strategic Housing Authorities   
• Voluntary Sector  
• Community Groups  
• Public and Community Transport  

Page 11



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  

 

 

 
District Council / Bromsgrove Involvement   

• to be determined but a clear role is envisaged given the importance of the 
services that Districts deliver for older people eg leisure and community  

• while we want to ensure equity of service  provision where necessary there is a 
need for a district dimension to the strategy to ensure that local needs are 
addressed  

• we are particularly keen to work with Bromsgrove given the positive steps you 
have already taken to review your services and how they support delivery of the 
previous older people's strategy   

 
3.               What are the key targets and performance indicators of the strategy, 
including 
  LAA targets? What is the current performance trend against these? 
 
Targets and Indicators  

• these will be determined once the outcomes and objectives for the strategy have 
been finalised but supporting older people to maintain their independence at 
home and keeping them out of care homes and hospital will be key 

• the strategy will be largely focused on achievement of outcomes that will be 
determined by the views of older people, although indicators will inform our 
assessment of whether objectives have been met     

 
Trends 

• over recent years downward pressure has been successfully applied on the 
number care home placements and the number of older people supported to live 
independently at home has increased  

• we have not collated outcomes based information to date but this will be a focus 
of the new strategy 

 
4.               What is the consultation plan for the strategy? How are district councils 
  involved?  
 

• Older People's Forums, Voluntary Sector partners and BME community 
representatives – consultation completed to inform the draft strategy  

• Consultative Group and Project Group – wide range of stakeholders engaged in 
development of the strategy (including representatives from Chief Housing 
Officers Group) but membership of District Councils needs reviewing  

• District Councils – need to engage with all councils over coming few months to 
inform detail of the strategy 

• Joint Commissioning Group / Health and Social Care Partnership Board – to sign 
off draft December 2010  

• Public Consultation – projected for early 2011     
 
5.                  What are the funding streams for delivery of the strategy? 
 

Page 12



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  

 

 

• these will be numerous since successful delivery of the strategy's objectives and 
outcomes is dependent on the active engagement of a number of key 
commissioning organisations, including the County Council, NHS Worcestershire, 
Public Health, and District Councils 

  
6.                  What is the needs assessment by geographical area? 
 

• A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment has been undertaken by the County Council 
and NHS Worcestershire for the past three years, and each has had a focus on 
older people 

• demographic data from the Projecting Older People Population Information 
(POPPI) system has also been collated  

• the recent research project into housing support needs has also been used to 
inform the draft  

 
 
7.                  How is housing provision included within this strategy? 
 

• the role of supported housing and in particular extra care housing is identified as 
one of the key priorities for the strategy 

• the dual aim of supporting as many people as possible to retain independence at 
home and keeping them out of registered care homes is reliant on having a 
healthy supported housing supply     

 
8.              The Hub is being provided with access to an online directory “Carewise”.  
What  
 information is available in the community and will this include district level  
 information 
 

• the Carewise directory can be accessed by individuals at home, via local 
libraries, voluntary organisations such as Age Concern or CAB, and at the Hubs 

• the information contains details of services that are available at a district, county,  
regional, or national level, and there is a search facility for geographical area 

 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Overview Board   27th July 2010  

 

 

Spatial Planning Peer Review Action Plan 
 
Relevant Portfolio Holder  Cllr Jill Dyer 
Relevant Head of Service Ruth Bamford 
Non-Key Decision  
 
1.  SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS 
 
1.1 The following report and appendix 1 highlight the key points emerging from 

a spatial planning peer review undertaken by the Improvement and 
Development Agency for Local Government (IDeA) and the Planning 
Advisory Service (PAS). Appendix 2 is the peer review action plan 
developed to address the recommendations of the external review team. 

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 That the Overview Board review the attached report and refer any 

comments and recommendations for consideration by Cabinet on 4th 
August 2010.  

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In October 2009 a team from IDeA and PAS visited the Council to undertake 

a Spatial Planning Peer Review. The format of the review was designed to 
help the planning service assess its current achievements, and its capacity 
to change and continue to improve. The review team were onsite for two 
days during which they spoke to a wide variety of officers, members, service 
users, and other partners and stakeholders in the planning process in order 
to gauge the necessary information to deliver their report. 

 
3.2 A report was prepared by the review team (see appendix 1) which outlines 

18 key recommendations organised into the following areas, 
• Achieving outcomes,  
• Integration and collaboration,  
• Leading and engaging the community,  
• Management,  
• Innovation,  
• Learning and excellence and, 
• Shared knowledge and evidence. 

  
4. KEY ISSUES 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 15



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Overview Board   27th July 2010  

 

 

4.1 The action plan (see appendix 2) identifies both the recommendations from 
the review team, and also the proposed actions developed by planning 
services to address these issues. 

 
4.2 Some of the actions such as lifting the housing moratorium, and engaging 

with Birmingham City Council at director level, have already been 
implemented. Some of the other recommendations focus on the delivery of 
development targets associated with the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS). 
This part of the development plan, however, has now been revoked 
meaning that these recommendations may need to be reassessed in the 
light of the new planning regime which focuses on bottom-up local planning, 
rather than top-down regional planning. 

 
4.3 Whilst most of the recommendations are to be implemented by officers, in a 

number of key areas, members’ involvement in the way the planning service 
operates is the subject of the review team’s recommendations. Officers will 
work with members on delivering these actions. 

 
5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 None 

 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 None 
 
7. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 The review and action plan has a number of recommendations which will 

affect how the Council prepares future planning policies.  
 
8. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1  The operation of an efficient and successful spatial planning and 

regeneration service will have significant impacts on all of the Council’s 
objectives and priorities. Most obviously, this will include the development of 
new housing to meet identified needs and town centre regeneration, to the 
promotion of sustainable development which addresses climate change, 
and promotes inclusive communities.  

  
9. RISK MANAGEMENT INCLUDING HEALTH & SAFETY 

CONSIDERATIONS 
  

Page 16



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Overview Board   27th July 2010  

 

 

9.1 None directly, all risk to be managed through the Planning and 
 Regeneration risk register. 
 
10. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Actions within the plan focus on how the planning service interacts with its 

customers, the implementation of the plan will improve contact, where 
necessary, between the planning service and its customers. 

 
11. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None 
 
12. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT AND ASSET 

MANAGEMENT 
 
12.1 The recommendations that the planning service looks to investigate 

opportunities for shared working and adopts a more flexible development 
management approach, in time could deliver a planning service that is 
better value for money. 

 
13. CLIMATE CHANGE, CARBON IMPLICATIONS AND BIODIVERSITY 
 
13.1 Successful spatial planning has full regard to climate change, carbon 

reduction, and the protection of biodiversity. Actions within the plan relate to 
improvements which will ensure these issues continue to be a significant 
consideration when the planning service assesses a wide range of 
developments within the district. 

 
14. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
  
14.1 None 
 
15. GOVERNANCE/PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
  
15.1 None 
 
16. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS INCLUDING SECTION 17 OF 

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
  
16.1 None 
 
17. HEALTH INEQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 
  

Page 17



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Overview Board   27th July 2010  

 

 

17.1 None 
 
18. LESSONS LEARNT 
 
18.1 The recommendations and subsequent action plan identifies a number of 

areas / lessons to be learnt with regard to the delivery and development of 
planning services. 

 
19. COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
19.1 A wide range of planning services users were interviewed as part of the 

review, and this is reflected in a number of actions actions within the plan, 
including the introduction of a website review, the implementation of the 
customer first actions plans, and ongoing customer surveys. 

 
20. OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder No 
Chief Executive No 
Executive Director (S151 Officer) No 
Executive Director – Leisure, Cultural, 
Environmental and Community Services 

No 

Executive Director – Planning & Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing Services  

Yes 

Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships 

No 

Head of Service Yes 
Head of Resources  No 
Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic 
Services 

No 

Corporate Procurement Team No 
 
21. WARDS AFFECTED 
 
 All Wards 
  
22. APPENDICES 
  
 Appendix 1 - Spatial Planning Peer Review  
 Appendix 2 - Spatial Planning Peer Review Action Plan 
 
23. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Page 18



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Overview Board   27th July 2010  

 

 

 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:  Ruth Bamford  
E Mail: r.bamford@bromsgrove.gov.uk 
Tel:  01527 881330 

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



supporting!local!government!!
improvement!

Spatial!Planning!
peer review 

Bromsgrove!District!Council!
October!2009!
!

improvement!and!development!
agency!for!local!government!

Page 21



!!

 
!
!
!
!
!
!

Table of contents  
!
!

Executive!summary!and!key!recommendations .... 2!

Background......................................................... 5!

Achieving!Outcomes……………………………….9!

Integration!and!Collaboration............................ 14!

Leading!and!engaging!the!community............... 17!

Management………………………………………20!

Innovation,!learning!and!excellence……………..23!

Shared!knowledge!and!evidence………………..!26!!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 1!
Page 22



!!

Executive!summary!and!key!recommendations!

  Summary 

Bromsgrove!District!Council!has!gone!through!a!difficult!period!since!
Comprehensive!Performance!Assessment!(CPA)!judgement!of!‘poor’!in!2004.!!!!!

The!recent!CPA!inspection!acknowledged!that!the!council’s!vision!and!priorities!
had!been!“refined!and!now!better!reflect!customer,!stakeholder!and!staff!
ambitions.”!!Spatial!planning!has!a!key!role!to!deliver!the!council!vision!and!
priorities,!which!includes!the!Longbridge!site,!affordable!housing,!town!centre!
regeneration!and!development!of!the!town’s!railway!station.!!If!these!represent!
opportunities!then!the!challenges!for!planning!future!development!are!formidable!
with!ninety-one!per!cent!of!the!district!being!green!belt.!

Having!made!strong!progress!in!recent!years!the!council!is!moving!into!a!new!
phase!of!improvement.!!This!will!require!addressing!a!number!of!spatial!planning!
issues.!!These!include:!

o How!to!manage!the!green!belt!to!accommodate!future!growth?!

o The!council!has!developed!a!strong!local!vision!for!Bromsgrove.!!However,!
what!is!less!clear!is!the!council’s!role!in!the!region!and!sub-region.!!!

o Joint!working!with!Redditch!is!moving!towards!shared!management!teams!
and!services.!!This!is!still!at!an!early!stage!but!in!due!course!it!will!be!
important!to!consider!the!Bromsgrove-Redditch!axis!as!a!sub-regional!entity!
and!what!this!will!mean!in!how!it!is!presented!to!the!wider!region.!

o This!Bromsgrove-Redditch!axis!provides!clear!opportunities!for!spatial!
planning!to!consider!pooling!resources,!developing!joint!policy!
documentation!and!working!more!closely!to!produce!council!Core!
Strategies.!!

o How!will!the!council!want!to!establish!relationships!with!its!regional!
partners,!for!example!the!Government!Office!West!Midlands,!the!Regional!
Development!Agency!and!the!Regional!Improvement!and!Efficiency!
Partnership?!!What!will!the!council!want!from!these!relationships!and!who!
will!lead!on!these?!

o Partnership!working!should!ensure!that!planning!is!not!to!be!viewed!as!a!
solution!by!itself.!!Complex!issues!such!as!economic!development,!the!
needs!of!elderly!persons,!affordable!housing!have!a!number!of!principal!
partners!able!to!contribute!resources!and!expertise!to!understanding!the!
issues!and!developing!solutions.!!The!council!and!planning!should!be!at!the!
centre!of!promoting!such!discussions.!!

o Members!are!central!to!‘place!shaping’!for!Bromsgrove.!!How!will!the!
council!ensure!that!councilors!are!supported!to!assume!this!role!with!
understanding!and!confidence?!!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 2!
Page 23



!!

o Training!and!development!for!officers!and!members!is!vital!for!moving!the!
authority!forward!during!the!next!phase!of!improvement.!!This!could!
include!developing!a!regional!vision,!developing!officer!and!member!
champions!for!specific!subjects,!for!example!Longbridge!and!the!town!
centre,!and!giving!consideration!to!moving!towards!development!
management!approach!for!the!planning!service.!

o Some!of!the!issues!confronting!the!council!are!challenging.!!Addressing!
these!internally!might!be!difficult!because!of!internal!tensions!and/or!a!lack!
of!resource,!for!example!making!a!policy!breakthrough!on!ADRs.!!External!
facilitation!could!be!an!option!for!negotiating!areas!of!difficulty.!

o There!has!been!a!recent!history!of!tension!at!Bromsgrove!of!tension!
between!officers!and!members.!!The!next!phase!of!improvement!for!the!
council!is!concerned!should!seek!to!address!this.!!Staff!development!to!
develop!a!more!positive!culture!should!be!considered.!!Peer!mentoring!for!
officers!and!members!–!providing!support!and!challenge!on!issues!and!
working!arrangements!–!could!also!help!the!council!move!through!this!
phase.!

Key recommendations 

The!recommendations!of!the!peer!review!team!are!set!out!under!the!headings!of!
the!benchmark!of!the!‘ideal’!authority.!!The!peer!review!team!recommends!that!
the!council:!

Achieving outcomes  

i. Considers!this!report!with!a!view!to!making!the!planning!service!one!which!is!
overtly!supportive!of!and!key!to!delivery!of!the!council’s!objectives!

ii. Formally!lifts!the!housing!moratorium!based!on!the!RSS!Phase!Two!Revision!
figures!and!the!recent!experience!of!successful!planning!appeals!and!
Ombudsman!report!findings!against!the!council!

iii. Develops!a!policy!position!for!the!development!of!larger!sites!on!the!edge!of!
Bromsgrove!Areas!of!Development!Restraint!(ADR),!which!would!permit!a!mix!
of!housing!including!affordable!housing!and!other!uses!located!in!the!most!
sustainable!locations![The!Advisory!Team!for!Large!Applications!(ATLAS)!has!
been!engaged!by!the!council,!since!the!peer!review,!to!assist!on!strategic!site!
allocations.]!

iv. Produces!a!masterplan!for!designated!ADR!sites!to!encourage!quality!design!
and!development!on!more!sustainable!sites!!

v. Develops!Supplementary!Planning!Documents!(SPDs)!for!planning!obligations!
and!affordable!housing!that!clearly!states!council!intentions!for!these!areas!

vi. Undertakes!an!assessment,!with!Redditch,!of!the!resources!needed!for!both!
councils!to!work!together!to!develop!their!Core!Strategies!for!simultaneous!
submission!!

!

!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 3!
Page 24



!!

Integration and collaboration 

vii. Ensures!the!emerging!Core!Strategy!incorporates!a!vision!describing!
Bromsgrove!and!its!role!within!the!region!

viii. Considers!engagement!with!Birmingham!City!Council!and!Worcestershire!
County!Council!at!strategic!director!level!given!the!importance!of!the!
Longbridge!and!Bromsgrove!town!centre/railway!station!development!for!the!
council![Such!engagement!has!commenced!since!the!peer!review.]!

Leading and engaging the community 

ix. Monitors!the!usage!of!the!website!and!survey!users!to!obtain!feedback!on!the!
website!‘useability’!to!inform!future!development!

x. Continues!to!monitor!the!Customer!First!priority.!!A!good!start!has!been!made!
but!for!the!planning!service!it!is!at!an!early!stage.!!This!should!be!regularly!
monitored!and!reviewed!by!the!Head!of!Planning!and!Regeneration!and!the!
Executive!Director.!

xi. Reviews!the!current!member!/!officer!working!arrangements!so!that!members!
are!able!to!discharge!their!community!leadership!role,!informed!by!professional!
officer!advice!!

Management  

xii. Produces!a!project!plan!(that!is!a!revised!Local!Development!Scheme!–!LDS)!for!
the!work!needed!to!complete!the!Core!Strategy!by!June/July!2010.!!!

xiii. Develops!planning!resource!capacity.!!These!could!include:!!moving!to!
development!management*and!encouraging!the!resource!flow!from!
development!control!to!policy!planning!and!vice!versa;!and!combining!
resources!with!Redditch,!from!secondments!to!joint!investment!in!specialist!
resources!e.g.!urban!design,!planning!obligation!(S106)!negotiations,!joint!
planning!arrangements!and!joint!policies.!

[*Development!management!(DM)!constitutes!the!assessing!and!determining!
of!applications!more!strategically!and!moves!away!from!a!‘plan-led!system’.!!
DM!is!a!change!in!planning!culture!–!away!from!reactive!control!of!
development!to!a!more!positive!and!proactive!role!for!planning.]!

xiv. Addresses!the!practice!within!the!council!of!attaching!blame!to!the!planning!
service.!!This!practice!needs!to!be!carefully!opened!up!by!senior!managers,!
with!HR!and!possibly!with!external!support,!to!fully!understand!the!issues,!how!
they!came!about!and!the!actions!needed!to!address!these.!

Innovation, learning and excellence 

xv. Should!ensure!maximum!gain!from!S106!negotiations!from!developers!in!the!
future!development!of!ADRs.!!This!could!be!assisted!by!considering!the!
appointment!of!a!specialist!negotiating!officer!(perhaps!shared!with!Redditch)!
or!of!buying!in!this!expertise!when!required.!

xvi. The!chief!executive,!executive!director!and!Leader!of!council!actively!encourage!
members!to!attend!the!one!hour!time!slot!provided!before!Planning!
Committee!for!members!to!discuss!planning!issues!with!officers!

!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 4!
Page 25



!!

Shared knowledge and evidence 

xvii. Considers!and!develops!opportunities!for!sharing!the!cost!of!joint!studies!with!
other!local!government!partners!in!the!region!

xviii. Develop!better!ways!to!capture!and!transfer!learning.!!This!is!so!the!council!is!
able!to!identify!good!practice!elsewhere,!to!understand!how!this!is!achieved!
and!considers!application!in!other!service!areas.!!

!
!

Background 

The!visit!to!Bromsgrove!District!Council!planning!service!was!part!of!a!programme!
of!reviews!undertaken!by!the!Improvement!and!Development!Agency!for!local!
government!(IDeA)!and!the!Planning!Advisory!Service!(PAS).!!A!peer!review!is!
designed!to!help!the!service!assess!its!current!achievements!and!its!capacity!to!
change,!and!continue!to!improve.!

The!peer!review!is!not!an!inspection;!rather!it!offers!a!supportive!approach,!
undertaken!by!friends!–!albeit!‘critical!friends’!–!and!aims!to!help!a!council!identify!
its!current!strengths!as!much!as!what!it!needs!to!improve.!The!planning!service!
produced!a!Self!Assessment!using!the!benchmark,!in!advance!of!the!review;!this!
provided!key!areas!for!the!team!to!focus!their!research.!

The!basis!for!this!review!is!the!benchmark!of!the!‘ideal!’authority.!The!benchmark!
is!divided!up!into!the!following!sections:!

 
! Achieving!outcomes!!

! Integration!and!collaboration!

! Leading!and!engaging!the!community!

! Management!!

! Innovation,!learning!and!excellence!

! Shared!knowledge!and!evidence!

!
!
The!members!of!the!peer!review!team!were:!

! David!Evans,!Director!of!Planning!and!Environment,!West!Dorset!District!
Council!

! Councillor!Claire!Denman,!Portfolio!Holder,!Planning!and!Economic!
Development,!Crawley!Borough!Council!

! Richard!Probyn,!Planning!Policy!and!Implementation!Manager,!
Huntingdonshire!District!Council!

! Deborah!Hogan,!Consultant,!the!Planning!Advisory!Service!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 5!
Page 26



!!

! Andrew!Winfield,!IDeA!Review!Manager!

!
The!team!was!on!site!12-14!October!2009.!The!programme!for!the!onsite!phase!
was!organised!in!advance!and!included!a!variety!of!activities!designed!to!enable!us!
to!meet!and!talk!to!a!range!of!internal!and!external!stakeholders.!Our!activities!
included:!!

! interviews!and!discussions!with!councillors,!officers,!service!users!and!
partners!!

! focus!groups!with!middle!managers!and!frontline!staff!!
! a!tour!of!the!district!
! reading!documents!provided!by!the!authority,!including!the!self-
assessment.!

!!
We!appreciated!the!warm!welcome!and!hospitality!provided!by!the!council!and!
would!like!to!thank!everybody!we!met!for!their!time!and!contributions.!The!
supportive!way!our!needs!were!taken!care!of!while!on!site!deserves!particular!
mention.!!

The!feedback!we!gave!the!council!on!the!last!day!of!the!review!provided!an!
overview!of!the!key!messages!structured!around!the!benchmark!of!the!‘ideal’!
authority.!This!report!builds!on!the!initial!findings!and!gives!a!detailed!account!of!
the!review.!!

!

Context 

!

BACKGROUND 
!
Bromsgrove!District!covers!a!large!area!of!nearly!84!square!miles!in!north!
Worcestershire.!!The!district!is!14!miles!from!the!centre!of!Birmingham.!!!
!
Ninety-one!percent!of!the!district!is!greenbelt,!which!presents!issues!for!
regeneration!and!housing.!!Four!radial!routes!pass!through!the!district,!each!
served!by!railway!lines!and!major!roads,!including!the!M5!running!north!and!
south,!the!M42!running!east!and!west,!with!further!links!to!the!M40!and!M6.!
!
The!district’s!principal!settlements!are:!!Bromsgrove,!Hagley,!Rubery,!and!Wythall.!!
It!is!estimated!that!16,643!people!travel!into!the!district!for!work,!with!26,112!of!
the!population!travelling!out,!a!net!commute!out!of!9,469.!!The!district!has!no!
wards!in!the!top!20!per!cent!most!deprived!in!England.!
!

!
THE COUNCIL 
!
The!council!had!been!viewed!as!a!'poor'!council!for!some!time.!!This!was!
recognised!by!the!council!and!in!2004!it!was!given!a!comprehensive!performance!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 6!
Page 27



!!

assessment!(CPA)!rating!of!'poor'!and!entered!into!voluntary!engagement!with!
CLG.!!This!was!followed!by!changes!in!senior!management!and!political!
leadership.!!!

In!2006!the!council!requested!a!further!assessment!to!judge!improvement!
progress.!!The!CPA!2007!rated!the!council!as!'Poor'!but!acknowledged!that!
considerable!progress!had!been!made.!The!current!chief!executive!took!up!post!in!
April!2007.!!!
!
The!council!underwent!a!further!CPA!in!2009!and!was!judged!as!‘Fair’.!!The!
council’s!Annual!Audit!and!Inspection!letter!(March!2009)!stated!that,!“Since!the!
last!CPA,!the!Council!has!made!significant!progress!in!addressing!the!weakness!
previously!identified.!!Much!of!the!work!has!focused!on!putting!the!processes!and!
'building!blocks'!in!place!that!were!absent!in!early!2007!and!these!are!now!
starting!to!make!an!impact.”!
!
A!new!Leader!was!appointed!in!October!2005!and!the!council!has!a!majority!
Conservative!administration,!with!26!Conservatives,!6!Labour,!4!Independents,!2!
Wythall!Residents'!Coalition!and!1!unaffiliated.!!
!
The!council!operates!a!Leader/Cabinet!model;!supported!by!three!non-executive!
boards!-!audit!board,!scrutiny!steering!board!and!performance!management!board!
-!as!well!as!standards!and!licensing!committees.!!There!is!an!officer!corporate!
management!team!(CMT).!!!
!
Since!August!2008!the!chief!executive!has!been!acting!joint!chief!executive!of!
Bromsgrove!District!Council!and!Redditch!Borough!Council.!!The!purpose!of!this!
initially!year-long!project!was!to!explore!opportunities!for!joint!working!and!the!
provision!of!shared!services.!!A!review!led!to!extending!the!Joint!Chief!executive!
arrangement!(September!2009).!!This!is!a!3!½!year!fixed!term!contract!!with!a!
specific!brief!to!oversee!the!recruitment!of!a!single!management!team,!to!serve!
both!authorities,!and!the!potential!sharing!of!all!services!(excluding!the!Housing!
Revenue!Account).!
!
The!overarching!vision!for!the!district!is!‘Working!together!to!build!a!district!where!
people!are!proud!to!live!and!work,!through!community!leadership!and!excellent!
services.’!
!
The!council!has!a!good!strategic!framework!for!delivering!priorities.!!Strategic!
priorities!are!set!out!in!a!three!year!Council!Plan,!which!drives!the!service!planning!
process!and!the!annual!improvement!plan.!!Improvement!Plan!progress!is!
monitored!monthly!through!exception!reporting!to!senior!officers!and!elected!
members.!
!
The!Council!Plan!is!the!key!overarching!document!listing!council!vision,!values,!
objectives!and!priorities,!the!measures!of!success,!together!with!a!Strategic!Action!
Plan!and!a!Performance!Management!Framework.!!The!Council!Plan!is!updated!in!
April!each!year!and!for!2009-2012!sets!out!four!objectives:!
!

! Regeneration!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 7!
Page 28



!!

! Improvement!
! Sense!of!community!and!well!being!
! Environment.!

!
The!council!and!its!partners!on!the!LSP!agreed!to!give!particular!focus!between!
2007!and!2010!to!three!priorities:!!Bromsgrove!town!centre!redevelopment;!
Longbridge!regeneration;!and!affordable!housing.!
!
The!council!has!a!net!revenue!budget!of!£11.984!million!(2009/10).!!The!Council!
employs!368!staff.!!!
!
REGENERATION AND HOUSING 
!
The!economic!picture!of!the!district!is!generally!positive!despite!the!current!
economic!downturn.!!Unemployment!levels!increased!to!3.7!per!cent!at!June!
2009.!
!
The!mean!household!income!is!£38,690!is!the!highest!in!the!county!(the!county!
average!is!£35,656*).!!
!
There!are!three!major!areas!of!economic!regeneration!within!the!district:!!the!
Longbridge!site,!Bromsgrove!town!centre!and!Bromsgrove!railway!station.!!!
!
The!population!of!the!district!is!92,300!and!the!Office!for!National!Statistics!
project!that!this!will!increase!by!20.5!per!cent!to!111,200!by!2031.!!The!over!65!
population!totals!17,000!and!is!predicted!to!expand!significantly!as!a!proportion!of!
the!overall!population!with!the!over!80s!population!estimated!to!increase!by!132!
per!cent!by!2031.!!!
!
There!are!37,492!households!in!the!district.!!The!current!iteration!of!the!Regional!
Spatial!Strategy!is!likely!to!require!3,000!-!7,000!households!to!be!built!in!the!
district!over!the!next!25!years!and!it!is!proposed!that!Bromsgrove!district!will!be!
required!to!take!some!of!Redditch!Borough!Council’s!housing!allocation.!
!
A!big!issue!facing!the!district!is!affordable!housing.!!The!average!house!price!is!
£240,867*!and!83.4!per!cent!of!households!are!owner!occupied,!the!11th!highest!
figure!in!England!and!Wales.!!
!
The!council!is!operating![at!the!time!of!the!peer!review]!a!planning!moratorium!
with!only!affordable!housing!developments!being!built.!The!Housing!Strategy!has!
a!target!of!80!units!of!affordable!housing!a!year!for!the!next!three!years.!
!
!
!
!
!
*These!statistics!were!from!before!the!economic!downturn.!
!
!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 8!
Page 29



!!

!
!

Achieving Outcomes 
!
Strengths 
 

! Completion!of!the!Core!strategy!held!up!by!RSS!but!the!council!made!a!
persuasive!case!for!increased!housing!allocation!

! Completed!work!on!Longbridge!AAP,!progress!with!town!centre!AAP!

! Research!studies!completed!and!underway!(SHLAA,!employment,!green!
infrastructure!etc.)!

!
Areas for consideration 
 

" Spatial!planning!needs!to!be!at!the!heart!of!the!authority!!

" Core!Strategy!would!benefit!from!stronger!links!to!the!SCS!and!Council!
Plan!

" Development!can!be!promoted!now!that!there!is!increasing!certainty!over!
RSS!allocations!

" SPD!on!affordable!housing!and!planning!obligations!needed!to!deliver!
council!vision!

" Develop!strong!and!ambitious!programme!to!deliver!the!Core!Strategy!and!
other!related!policy!documents!

" Take!the!opportunity!to!channel!members’!aspirations!into!planned!new!
housing!opportunities!(ADRs)!

 

1. The!council!has!worked!on!developing!a!draft!Core!Strategy!since!2005.!!!!
This!provides!a!spatial!vision!and!objectives!that!cross!reference!with!the!
Sustainable!Community!Strategy!and!the!Council!Plan.!

2. The!development!of!the!Regional!Spatial!Strategy!(RSS)!has!been!delayed!
and!this!has!impacted!on!the!council!in!preparing!a!draft!Core!Strategy,!
particularly!on!the!future!housing!numbers!for!the!district.!!!

3. Despite!the!RSS!delay!progress!has!been!made.!!The!earlier!RSS!iterations!
did!not!allow!the!housing!growth,!in!particular!affordable!housing,!the!
council!believed!was!be!needed.!!The!RSS!Examination!in!Public!(EIP)!was!
held!in!Spring!2009!and!the!Panel’s!report!published!in!September!2009.!!
The!council!was!successful!in!arguing!for!housing!numbers!to!be!increased!
to!4,000.!!The!council!input!led!to!recent!Panel!recommendations!which!
now!provide!clarity!for!the!Core!Strategy!to!be!progressed!quickly!as!a!key!
priority!(RSS!Panel!Report,!September!2009!Chapter!8!paras.!8.85!-!8.87).!!!

4. The!centrality!of!spatial!planning!for!delivering!council!priorities!is!clear!in!
the!council’s!Council!Plan!which!includes!the!Longbridge!site!and!town!
centre!redevelopment!as!council!priorities.!!!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 9!
Page 30



!!

5. In!April!2005,!parts!of!Phoenix!Venture!Holdings!(PVH),!most!significantly!
MG!Rover!and!PowerTrain!entered!administration,!resulting!in!the!closure!
of!the!Longbridge!car!plant.!!These!elements!employed!around!5,850!
people!in!the!West!Midlands!and!an!estimated!£410m!was!spent!with!
supply!chain!firms!in!the!region.!!Regeneration!is!progressing!with!a!
Longbridge!Area!Action!Plan!(LAAP)!developed!in!association!with!
Birmingham!City!Council!and!Worcestershire!County!Council.!!!

6. The!LAAP!was!examined!by!the!Government!Inspector!and!found!to!be!
‘sound’!subject!to!minor!amendments!in!February!2009.!!The!LAAP!was!
adopted!by!the!council!as!a!Development!Plan!Document!(DPD)!in!April!
2009!and!will!guide!site!redevelopment!over!the!coming!15-20!years.!!The!
LAAP!includes!an!infrastructure!tariff!to!fund!a!range!of!physical!and!
community!infrastructure!projects,!for!example!new!park!and!ride!stations!
and!supporting!bus!services!to!serve!south!Birmingham.!!

7. Longbridge!is!important!as!a!large!site!of!468!acres!of!which!1/3!lies!within!
Bromsgrove!district.!!It!is!proposed!that!up!to!750!homes!will!be!built!on!
the!Bromsgrove!area!and!this!will!go!some!way!to!address!housing!and!
affordable!housing!needs!in!the!district.!!

8. Similarly!the!town!centre!is!a!high!priority!project!for!the!council.!
Bromsgrove!town!centre!needs!a!major!overhaul!to!encourage!local!
shopping!and!to!be!able!to!compete!with!neighbouring!shopping!centres.!
The!Bromsgrove!Area!Action!Plan!(AAP)!was!published!in!July!2008!
following!a!thorough!consultation!programme.!!!Taking!forward!the!AAP!
will!be!through!a!Development!Plan!Document!(DPD).!

The!council’s!Annual!Audit!and!Inspection!letter!(March!2009)!states!that:!

“The!regeneration!of!the!town!centre!is!at!an!early!stage!and!it!
remains!a!difficult!and!challenging!project.!An!area!action!plan!has!
been!developed,!and!an!issues!and!option!paper!completed.!A!joint!
County!and!District!Council!Project!Board!has!been!established!for!
the!town!centre!and!a!town!centre!project!manager!appointed.!!
Negotiations!to!relocate!the!various!emergency!services!to!a!new!site!
thus!freeing!up!sites!in!the!town!centre!are!underway!although!
progress!has!been!hampered!by!the!listing!of!Parkside!School.”!

9. Bromsgrove!railway!station!is!associated!with!the!town!centre!
development.!!The!current!station!facilities!are!considered!inadequate!and!
a!feasibility!study!is!being!carried!out!on!the!possible!redesign!of!the!
station!so!that!it!can!take!bigger!trains,!more!passengers!and!increased!car!
parking!spaces.!This!would!help!‘future!proof’!the!station!against!any!
changes!to!transport!charges!that!may!affect!Birmingham!city!centre.!!
Negotiations!between!Network!Rail!and!other!partners!are!currently!taking!
place!to!put!together!the!funding!package!for!these!works.!!It!is!envisaged!
that!this!will!have!significant!effect!on!Bromsgrove!due!to!the!planned!
Cross!City!Line!electrification!being!extended!to!the!town!and!will!bring!it!
closer!to!the!economic!orbit!of!Birmingham.!

10.Research!studies!have!been!completed!or!are!underway.!!These!will!be!
important!for!informing!the!final!Core!Strategy!document!and!associated!
policy!development.!!A!green!infrastructure!study!is!being!undertaken.!!A!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 10!
Page 31



!!

joint!Strategic!Housing!Land!Availability!Assessment!(SHLAA)!has!been!
completed!with!Redditch.!!An!employment!land!study!and!a!retail!study!
have!been!undertaken.!!A!transport!study!is!being!considered!for!options!
appraisal.!!

11.Despite!this!the!peer!review!team!do!not!feel!that!planning!was!yet!at!the!
heart!of!the!council.!!This!could!be!explained!by!a!number!of!factors:!!!

! the!moratorium!on!housing!since!2003![the!council!intends!to!
formally!end!this!moratorium]!!!

! the!delay!in!progressing!the!RSS!

! there!is!often!not!a!senior!officer!presence!at!Planning!Committee!
and!the!elected!members!may!miss!this!visible!service!lead!

! the!Strategy!Manager!is!the!council!lead!on!planning!policy!and!has!
led!for!the!council!at!meetings!on!Longbridge!and!on!the!RSS.!!The!
review!team!consider!that!given!the!importance!of!these!matters!to!
the!council!a!director!lead!might!offer!greater!strategic!authority!and!
demonstrate!that!planning!matters!are!led!from!the!most!senior!
officers!of!the!council!

! the!LDF!Working!Group!has!not!met!since!March!this!year.!!A!view!
was!expressed!by!some!members!that!the!LDF!was!not!clearly!
prioritised!within!the!council!as!a!key!programme!to!deliver!council!
priorities.!!

Whatever!the!reasons!it!is!essential!that!spatial!planning!moves!to!the!
centre!of!the!council’s!working!arrangements!as!it!is!planning!that!will!be!
required!to!deliver!many!of!the!council’s!priorities,!for!example!the!
Longbridge!site!and!town!centre!redevelopment.!!The!Core!Strategy!will!
provide!the!planning!land!use!levers!for!future!housing!and!economic!
development!to!deliver!the!objectives!of!the!SCS,!the!Local!Area!Agreement!
(LAA)!as!well!as!the!council’s!own!priorities.!!!

12.With!the!increasing!certainty!over!the!likely!housing!numbers!for!
Bromsgrove!set!out!in!the!RSS!Phase!Two!revision!there!is!a!clear!
opportunity!for!planning!officers!and!the!council!to!plan!ahead.!!However,!
with!the!revised!figures!the!council!no!longer!has!a!five!year!!supply!of!
land!that!is!suitable,!available!and!achievable!i.e.!deliverable!and!could!end!
up!with!planning!by!appeal,!as!highlighted!in!a!recent!precedent.!!In!that!
appeal!for!five!two-storey!dwellings!(37!Western!Road,!Hagley)!the!
Planning!Inspector!stated!that,!“…the!Council’s!approach!to!the!question!
of!housing!land!supply!is!unnecessarily!cautious!in…continuing!to!base!its!
requirements!solely!on!the!adopted!RSS”!(September!2009).!![Appeal!
decision!reference!APP/P1805/A/09/2101976.]!!Development!should!now!
be!promoted!by!lifting!the!housing!moratorium!and!taking!the!opportunity!
of!producing!a!masterplan!for!designated!ADRs!to!encourage!quality!
design!and!development!on!more!sustainable!sites.!

13.The!policy!as!currently!applied!in!the!Local!Plan!encourages!the!
development!of!exception!housing,!particularly!with!the!moratorium!on!
development!of!other!types!of!housing.!!Developing!larger!sites!on!the!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 11!
Page 32



!!

edge!of!Bromsgrove!(ADR)!would!be!preferable!to!building!in!rural!areas!in!
the!green!belt!and!lead!to!less!friction!and!criticism!from!residents.!!Sites!in!
ADRs!would!permit!a!mix!of!housing,!including!affordable!housing.!!This!
could!be!‘pepper!potted’!throughout!a!site,!instead!of!in!one!large!tranche!
on!the!edge!of!a!village,!and!be!located!in!the!most!sustainable!locations.!!!
This!would!go!some!way!to!satisfy!member!aspirations!to!build!affordable!
housing!and!avoid!the!criticism,!highlighted!in!the!recent!Ombudsman!
(Complaint!number!07B13868,!June!2009)!and!appeal!cases!(see!
paragraph!12!above).!!The!current!ADR!allocations!were!developed!in!the!
late!1990s!so!may!need!to!be!reviewed!for!soundness!as!part!of!the!
development!of!the!Core!Strategy.!

14.Supplementary!Planning!Documents!(SPDs)!on!planning!obligations!are!
needed!to!ensure!that!social!infrastructure!(schools,!open!space!and!
community!facilities)!and!affordable!housing!are!provided!on!
masterplanned!sites.!!This!is!important!to!avoid!negotiating!planning!
obligations!where!affordable!housing!is!not!provided!on!site!as!part!of!
mixed!development.!!Some!money!from!previous!planning!obligations!was!
commuted!for!off!site!provision!of!affordable!housing!that!would!have!
produced!less!affordable!housing!than!if!provided!on!site.!!The!value!of!
land!without!affordable!housing!on!site!increases!considerably!and!a!
developer!/landowner!would!profit!from!this!if!other!obligations!were!not!
sought.!!!

15.Planning!obligations!should!also!be!sought!from!smaller!developments!and!
from!developers!in!the!town!centre!to!provide!environmental!
enhancements!such!as!new!floorscape!and!seating.!!!

16.The!council!recognises!that!it!has!not!made!the!best!use!of!planning!
powers!to!deliver!affordable!housing!(Housing!Strategy!2006-2011,!p56)!
and!is!committed!to!developing!Supplementary!Planning!Guidance!(SPG)!
to!introduce,!“lower!affordable!housing!thresholds!and!more!demanding!
levels!of!affordable!housing!contribution.”![The!review!team!had!sight!of!a!
draft!SPD!on!Affordable!Housing!so!it!should!be!relatively!straightforward!
to!present!this!to!council!for!speedy!adoption.]!

17.Now!that!the!RSS!detail!is!emerging!the!council!should!move!to!develop!a!
strong!and!ambitious!programme!to!deliver!the!Core!Strategy!and!other!
related!policy!documents!

18.The!Government!Office!West!Midlands!(GOWM)!was!critical!of!aspects!of!
the!draft!Core!Strategy!and!the!council!will!have!to!address!this.!!GOWM!
has!indicated!the!council!cannot!ignore!the!3,000!homes!for!Redditch!to!
be!provided!in!the!district!(allocated!by!the!RSS)!nor!can!Redditch!push!on!
their!core!strategy!before!further!joint!work!is!done!to!agree!where!this!
growth!is!to!be!located.!!Discussions!have!been!held!with!Redditch!to!set!
up!a!joint!board,!involving!members,!to!take!a!strategic!overview!of!cross!
border!developments.!!Momentum!is!also!being!generated!by!the!shared!
chief!executive!arrangement,!across!the!two!councils,!and!the!push!to!
share!management!teams!and!services.!!Both!councils!should!undertake!an!
assessment!of!resources!needed!for!both!councils!to!work!together!to!
develop!their!Core!Strategies!for!simultaneous!submission!and!examination!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 12!
Page 33



!!

by!the!same!Inspector.!This!should!lead!to!the!development!of!a!joint!
project!plan!(LDS)!that!would!identify!how!the!town!centre!AAP,!and!the!
SPDs!will!be!achieved!

 

!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!
!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 13!
Page 34



!!

Integration & Collaboration 

Strengths 
 

! Joint!working!with!Redditch,!Stratford-on-Avon!and!Worcestershire!CC!(and!
Birmingham)!–!able!to!build!on!

! Joint!Chief!executive!with!Redditch!offers!opportunity!for!improved!
collaboration!over!future!development!proposed!by!RSS!on!boundary!with!
Redditch!

! Council!is!trying!to!bring!forward!vision!of!development!at!Longbridge!

! Good!relations!at!senior!level!between!council!and!BDHT!

! HMA!(with!BDHT)!to!understand!housing!demand!and!need!for!future!
development!

 
Areas for consideration 
 

" Not!convinced!council!has!a!clear!view!of!its!role!in!the!region!

" Council!appears!not!to!be!effectively!engaged!–!and!less!able!to!influence!-!
with!key!regional!partners!(AWM,!GOWM!etc.)!

" Bromsgrove!had!difficulty!engaging!with!Birmingham!due!to!different!size!
and!scale!–!importance!given!to!the!Longbridge!development!

" Danger!that!Redditch!Core!Strategy!moves!forward!out!of!sync!with!
Bromsgrove!Core!Strategy!and!‘potentially!unsound’!

" External!partners!not!always!clear!on!planners’!professional!position!on!
affordable!housing!–!need!to!develop!understanding/relationships!

!

19.The!joint!working!with!neighbouring!councils!on!the!RSS,!Longbridge!and!
the!town!centre!development!provides!a!firm!foundation!for!developing!
the!identity!of!Bromsgrove!within!the!region.!!This!will!be!enhanced!by!the!
proposals!for!the!northern!arc!of!three!councils!(Bromsgrove,!Redditch!and!
Wyre!Forest)!in!Worcestershire!to!work!together!on!economic!
development!and!develop!a!North!Worcestershire!Economic!Strategy.!!The!
council!has!established!good!working!arrangements!with!Birmingham!City!
Council!on!the!Longbridge!AAP!and!also!with!Worcestershire!County!
Council!on!this!and!the!LAA.!!This!record!of!partnership!working!with!
neighbouring!councils!provides!a!firm!platform!for!developing!future!
partnership!initiatives,!regional!working!arrangements!and!shared!
services/resources.!This!is!also!recognised!in!the!CPA!report!(March!2009)!
with!the!council,!“…playing!a!more!positive!role!in!local!and!regional!
partnerships!from!which!it!was!previously!absent.”!

20.The!joint!chief!executive!arrangement!with!Redditch!offers!both!councils!
an!opportunity!for!improved!collaboration!on!developing!Core!Strategies!
and!the!future!development!proposed!by!the!RSS!on!the!boundary!with!
Redditch.!!The!latter!will!be!important!to!resolve!for!both!councils.!!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 14!
Page 35



!!

21.The!council!is!working!to!bring!forward!a!vision!of!development!at!
Longbridge.!!This!is!important!as!Longbridge!is!one!of!the!council’s!
priorities.!!An!Area!Action!Plan!(AAP)!has!been!developed!in!association!
with!Birmingham!City!Council!and!Worcestershire!County!Council.!!(See!
paragraphs!5!and!6!above.)!

22.The!council’s!housing!stock!was!transferred!to!Bromsgrove!District!Housing!
Trust!(BDHT)!in!2004.!!BDHT!are!the!largest!social!landlord!in!the!district!
managing!over!3,000!dwellings.!!The!team!were!told!that!relations!
between!the!council!and!BDHT!had!been!strained!but,!as!a!result!of!
council!efforts!and!senior!meetings!between!the!two!organisations,!these!
have!greatly!improved.!!This!was!confirmed!by!BDHT!and!the!council.!!
These!are!supported!by!ongoing!quarterly!meetings!held!between!the!chief!
executive,!Leader!and!BDHT.!!!

23.There!is!a!RSL!Liaison!Group!that!meets!every!month,!which!includes!
BDHT,!West!Mercia!RSL,!Worcestershire!County!Council,!strategic!housing!
and!planning!officers!and!members.!!This!group!considers!strategic!
housing!needs!and!opportunities!for!land!use!with!support!from!the!
Homes!and!Communities!Agency!for!rural!development.!!

24.The!council!developed!a!Housing!Market!Assessment!(HMA)!with!BDHT!and!
the!South!Housing!Market!Partnership!(April!2007),!which!includes!planning!
and!housing!authorities.!!The!council!also!commissioned!a!HMA!for!the!
district!which!was!produced!in!October!2008.!!The!council!acknowledges!in!
its!Housing!Strategy!2006-2011!that!this!had!been!an!area!of!weakness!but!
is!now!committed!to!conducting!future!survey!work!on!a!regular!basis!with!
partners.!!The!HMA!provides!the!council!–!and!partners!–!with!invaluable!
information!to!understand!housing!demand!and!need!to!plan!for!future!
development.!!This!was!put!to!practical!effect!to!inform!an!amendment!to!
an!existing!planning!approval!at!Perryfields!Road!to!provide!appropriate!
scale!and!type!of!dwellings!the!HMA!identified!as!being!needed.!

25.However,!the!review!team!was!not!convinced!the!council!has!a!clear!view!of!
its!role!in!the!region.!!For!example,!what!should!the!district’s!relationship!be!
with!Birmingham,!what!is!it!that!Bromsgrove!will!offer!the!region!as!a!
‘unique!selling!point’?!!Bromsgrove’s!LDF!Vision!in!the!draft!Core!Strategy!
(p8!October!2008)!clearly!set!outs!a!district-wide!vision!for!Bromsgrove!by!
2026.!!While!this!is!understandable!in!terms!of!the!LDF!it!does!seem!to!the!
review!team!to!miss!the!opportunity!of!describing!a!vision!of!Bromsgrove!
within!the!region.!!The!review!team!recommend!that!this!be!developed!for!
the!Core!Strategy.!

26.The!council!appeared!to!the!review!team!not!to!be!effectively!engaged!at!a!
senior!level!with!key!regional!partners,!for!example!the!Regional!
Development!Agency!-!Advantage!West!Midlands!(AWM),!GOWM!etc.!!In!
an!interview!it!became!apparent!that!the!council!was!not!“knocking!on!
the!door!of!AWM”.!!Similar!views!became!apparent!in!an!interview!with!
GOWM!who!stated!that!the!council!appeared,!“reluctant!to!engage!with!
Government!Office!–!this!may!be!due!to!issues!with!members!who!appear!
to!want!to!have!flexibility!about!where!development!goes”!and!appear!
reluctant!to!deal!with!cross!boundary!issues!adjoining!Redditch.!!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 15!
Page 36



!!

27.The!council!needs!to!continue!engaging!with!Birmingham.!!With!the!
importance!of!the!Longbridge!development!it!is!essential!that!high!level!
strategic!engagement!is!achieved.!!This!is!in!the!interests!for!both!councils,!
not!least!in!terms!of!employment!and!commuting,!with!Bromsgrove!having!
the!largest!single!direction!movement!to!the!city!in!the!county.!!The!Local!
Transport!Plan!2006-2011!(Worcestershire!County!Council)!makes!clear!
the!importance!of!transport!links,!and!the!county!council!commitment!to!
support!enhancing!Bromsgrove!Railway!Station!and!Bromsgrove!town!
centre.!!The!review!team!recommend!that!the!council!consider!
engagement!with!Birmingham!City!Council!and!Worcestershire!County!
Council!on!these!matters!at!strategic!director!level.!

28.There!is!a!possibility!that!the!development!of!the!Redditch!Core!Strategy!
progresses!with!Bromsgrove!Core!Strategy!some!way!behind.!!It!would!be!
clearly!preferable!for!the!two!authorities!to!work!in!tandem!to!the!same!
timetable!with!a!view!to!simultaneous!submission.!!This!‘joined!up!
working’!also!is!likely!to!be!expected!by!the!Planning!Inspectorate.!!
However,!Redditch!is!keen!to!press!ahead!and!may!not!wait!for!
Bromsgrove.!!The!council!should!ensure!that!both!councils!work!together!
to!ensure!their!timetables!are!aligned!and!that!Bromsgrove!has!the!
resources!to!deliver!to!this.!!

29.On!the!site!visit!it!was!apparent!that!some!significant!affordable!housing!
schemes!had!been!delivered.!!However,!some!partners!and!members!
expressed!the!view!that!the!council!planners!were!not!supportive!of!
affordable!housing.!!This!appeared!to!be!focused!on!!proposed!
development!of!affordable!housing!sites!in!the!green!belt!that!did!not!
meet!the!“very!special!circumstances”!test!in!PPG2!(Green!Belts).!The!
review!team!raise!this!because!it!is!a!perception!held!in!some!quarters!that!
the!council!may!wish!to!seek!to!correct.!!

!

 

 

 

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

 

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 16!
Page 37



!!

Leading and engaging the community 

Strengths 
 

! The!roles!and!responsibilities!of!members!have!been!reinforced!through!the!
Code!on!Conduct,!member/officer!protocol,!training!

! !Improved!working!relationship!between!members!and!officers.!

! The!council!are!taking!positive!steps!towards!engaging!with!communities!
(SCS!quantitative!analysis,!LDF!Statement!of!Community!Involvement)!

! Recent!introduction!of!public!speaking!at!Planning!Committee!is!welcomed!
by!the!community!

! The!website!has!provided!new!opportunities!for!residents!to!engage!with!
the!planning!service.!

!
Areas for consideration  
 

" Planning!needs!to!become!an!enabling!service!!

" Need!to!monitor!recent!customer!interface!arrangements!to!ensure!that!
they!meet!community!engagement!needs!

" The!council!should!review!the!current!member!/!officer!working!
arrangements!so!that!members!are!able!to!discharge!their!community!
leadership!role!with!a!clear!understanding!of!professional!officer!advice!

" There!is!a!perception!that!a!small!minority!of!councillors!are!behaving!in!a!
“disruptive!or!confrontational!way”!

!

30.The!roles!and!responsibilities!of!members!have!been!clarified!through!
recent!provision!of!core!documentation,!for!example:!!a!Code!of!Conduct;!
a!Description!of!Councillors!Roles;!and!a!member:!officer!protocol.!!
Specifically!on!planning!there!is!now!a!‘Code!of!Practice!–!Planning!
Services’,!contained!within!the!council’s!constitution.!!Planning!Committee!
members!are!now!required!to!undergo!specified!training.!!!The!review!
team!were!told!by!members!that!they!now!had!a!clearer!understanding!of!
spatial!planning!and!their!role!in!decision!making.!!!

31.Members!and!officers!interviewed!believe!that!there!is!a!good!working!
relationship!and!that!this!has!improved!in!recent!times.!!The!most!recent!
Audit!Commission!Annual!Audit!and!Inspection!Letter!(March!2009)!states,!
“Member!capacity!continues!to!improve.”!!The!council!has!been!active!in!
promoting!this.!!In!addition!to!the!training!described!above!there!are:!!
briefing!sessions!involving!the!chair!of!Planning!Committee!with!officers!
from!Development!Control!and!the!legal!team.!!The!Head!of!Service!meets!
regularly!with!the!portfolio!holder!to!discuss!service!matters.!!The!council’s!
portfolio!holder!also!encourages!members!to!raise!planning!issues!or!
potential!interests!with!planning/legal!officers.!

32.The!council!are!taking!positive!steps!towards!engaging!with!communities,!
informed!by!the!council’s!Community!Engagement!Strategy!2008-2009!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 17!
Page 38



!!

and!means!the!council!is!better!able!to!ensure!priorities!meet!residents'!
needs.!!The!quantitative!analysis!of!the!district,!which!informed!the!
development!of!the!Sustainable!Community!Strategy!(SCS)!and!the!LDF!
Statement!of!Community!Involvement!Work,!underpins!this.!!The!council!
have!used!various!methods!to!engage!with!the!community,!including:!a!
Quality!of!Life!survey!conducted!in!2008,!building!on!previous!customer!
panel!surveys;!working!with!partners!such!as!the!Town!Centre!
Regeneration!Steering!Group;!active!engagement!with!Town!and!Parish!
Councils!at!Partnerships!and!Communities!Together!(PACT).!!

33.The!council!ran!its!first!children!and!young!people's!convention!in!2007.!!It!
uses!a!community!bidding!approach!for!the!equalities!and!diversity!forum,!
and!runs!a!budget!jury,!enabling!local!people!to!decide!how!delegated!
money!should!be!spent.!!Key!issues,!to!emerge!from!involving!the!
equalities!and!diversity!forum,!are!the!regeneration!of!the!town!centre!
with!suitable!disabled!access,!extended!hours!of!the!shop!mobility!service,!
the!need!for!a!community!transport!scheme!and!the!redevelopment!of!the!
railway!station.!!!

34.Community!leadership!is!developing!well.!!The!council!funded!two!pilot!
area!committee!schemes!or!local!neighbourhood!partnerships!(LNP)!during!
2007/08,!and!allocated!£4,000!to!each.!!During!2008/09!this!was!
increased!to!£15,000!each.!!A!third!LNP!was!proposed!for!the!Hagley!and!
Rural!area.!![Budget!pressures!have!since!led!to!ending!LNP!funding!for!
financial!year!2010-2011.]!

35. !The!council!trialled!public!speaking!at!Planning!Committee!in!2006.!!This!
was!well!received!and!welcomed!by!the!community!and!formally!adopted!
in!2007.!!It!was!mentioned!positively!by!a!service!users’!focus!group,!some!
parish!councils,!and!members.!!

36.The!website!has!provided!new!opportunities!for!residents!to!engage!with!
the!planning!service!and!members!commented!positively!on!this.!!The!
review!team!found!it!easy!to!navigate!and!use.!!.!The!parish!council!focus!
group!generally!thought!this!was!an!improvement.!!The!planning!service!
users’!focus!group!also!supported!it.!!The!website!is!complemented!by!
good!quality!information!leaflets!and!brochures!including:!contacting!
Development!Control,!obtaining!planning!advice!from!the!Customer!
Service!Centre!and!a!planning!guide!for!householders.!!!!It!is!
recommended!that!the!council!monitor!the!usage!of!the!website!and!
survey!users!to!obtain!feedback!on!the!website!‘useability’!to!inform!future!
development.! !

37.However,!planning!is!not!currently!viewed!–!rightly!or!wrongly!-!as!an!
enabling!service.!!The!review!team!received!a!number!of!comments!from!
focus!groups!and!members!of!staff.!!A!not!untypical!comment!was!that,!
“planning!is!dragging!its!feet”!in!corporate!working!and!delivery.!!An!
example!was!alleged!advice!from!planning!suggesting!that!an!AAP!for!
Bromsgrove!Town!Centre!could!not!be!developed!in!advance!of!the!Core!
Strategy!when!subsequent!officer!and!member!research!resulted!in!
examples!of!such!AAPs.!!This!has!contributed!to!concern!on!being!able!to!
trust!and!rely!on!officer!advice.!!A!frequent!comment!made!to!the!review!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 18!
Page 39



!!

team!was!that!Planning!appeared!to!be!hiding!behind!their!regulatory!
function.!!To!illustrate!this!many!members!want!new!SPDs!to!reflect!
changing!community!need,!for!example!extensions!to!nursing!homes!in!
the!green!belt!to!reflect!demographic!changes.!!However!planners!are!seen!
to!be!‘hiding’!behind!the!RSS,!Planning!Policy!Statements!(PPSs)!and!LDF!
requirements.!!Correct!or!not,!this!is!a!very!damaging!perception!for!a!
planning!service!and!is!symptomatic!of!underlying!cultural!strains!that!need!
to!be!better!understood.!!More!on!this!is!contained!in!paragraph!48.!

38.Customer!First!is!a!priority!for!the!council.!!However,!the!CPA!report!stated!
that,!“customer!focus!is!not!embedded!throughout!the!council”!and!that,!
“specific!needs!of!customers!are!not!being!met!consistently!by!all!
services.”!!Information!gathered!by!the!team!suggests!that!this!is!an!area!
for!further!work!for!Planning.!!More!needs!to!be!done!to!understand!the!
customer!service!requirements,!to!monitor!customer!contact!and!to!ensure!
the!council!and!service!users!are!in!ongoing!dialogue.!!Some!of!this!work!is!
contained!in!the!Planning!and!Environment!Services!Business!Plan!but!this!
tends!to!set!performance!response!targets!and!not!qualitative!measures.!!
None!of!the!Corporate!Customer!Standards!in!the!business!plan!are!
reported!in!the!monthly!Performance!Report.!!There!may!be!benefit!in!the!
Executive!Director!and!head!of!service!having!more!involvement!in!this!
area!and!by!the!service!capturing!more!qualitative!information,!for!
example!spot!surveys!of!planning!users.!

39.The!review!team!picked!up!a!deep!sense!of!member!frustration!at!being!
unable!to!champion!and!deliver!community!priorities!and!their!feeling!that!
planning!service!was!constraining!them.!!This!became!palpable!when!
members!spoke!of!feeling!that!the!council!has!been!talking!about!town!
centre!development!for!more!than!5!years!and!they!are!still!talking!about!
it.!!!Another!concern!of!members!picked!up!during!the!review!was!around!
controlling!the!growth!in!numbers!of!takeway!food!outlets.!!The!council!
should!give!consideration!to!this!growth,!how!this!is!managed!elsewhere!
and!whether!control!in!this!area!is!required!by!a!Supplementary!Planning!
Document!(SPD).!!Around!the!broader!issue!of!political!frustration!senior!
officers!and!elected!members!are!recommended!to!give!consideration!to!
reviewing!current!working!arrangements!and!the!member!community!
leadership!role!in!relation!to!delivery!of!council!priorities.!!!

40.There!is!a!perception!that!a!small!minority!of!councillors!are!behaving!in!a!
disruptive!manner.!!This!was!picked!up!in!the!Audit!Commission’s!CPA!
report!(March!2009).!!This!was!referred!to!in!focus!groups!and!interviews!
during!the!peer!review.!!A!recent!example!was!the!police!being!called!to!a!
council!meeting!in!July!to!restore!order.!!This!is!damaging!to!the!council’s!
public!image,!especially!in!light!of!the!council’s!sign!up!to!the!LGA’s!
Reputation!campaign.!!Much!work!has!been!conducted!by!the!council!to!
improve!behavioural!issues,!in!particular!by!training!and!development.!!This!
is!an!area!of!importance!for!the!council!and!needs!to!be!worked!on!
continuously!by!the!chief!executive,!the!Leader,!group!leaders!and!the!
CMT.!!This!might!be!usefully!supported!by!the!provision!of!peer!
mentoring.!!!!

!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 19!
Page 40



!!

Management  
Strengths 
 

! Considerable!improvement!achieved!–!now!moving!to!the!next!phase!of!
this!journey!

! Clear!strategic!framework!(SCS,!Council!Plan,!the!LSP!linking!to!the!LAA)!

! The!LDF!is!developing!to!a!point!of!enabling!the!council!vision!

! Major!increase!in!delegated!authority!over!the!last!5!years!

! Successful!implementation!of!Customer!Service!Centre!and!Surgery!
arrangements!!

!

Areas for consideration 
 

" Develop!clarity!on!member!:!officer!roles!and!responsibilities!

" Resources!needed!to!develop!Core!Strategy!and!deliver!quality!new!
development!

" CMT!support!for!spatial!planning!to!assume!‘place!shaping’!role!

" Use!partnerships!to!gain!understanding,!consensus!and!support!delivery!

!

41.The!council!has!made!significant!improvement.!!Progress!is!acknowledged!
in!the!recent!Audit!Commission!CPA!and!Annual!Audit!and!Inspection!
Letter!(both!dated!March!2009)!which!refers!to!the!processes!and!
“building!blocks”!being!in!place!that!were!previously!absent.!!The!council!
is!now!moving!into!a!new!improvement!phase.!!This!is!supported!by!
managerial!and!political!leadership!that!understands!the!importance!of!
planning!for!Bromsgrove!and!has!a!clear!vision!for!the!future.!!!

42.The!council!was!designated!a!‘Standards!Authority’!for!2007-2008!due!to!
Best!Value!Performance!Indicator!(BVPI)!underperformance.!!In!response!it!
has!worked!to!an!Improvement!Plan!with!progress!reported!to!CMT!and!
Cabinet.!!Since!then!service!Business!Plans!have!been!used!to!set!out!
national!targets!for!processing!planning!applications,!complemented!by!
local!performance!indicators.!!!

43.The!strategic!planning!framework!and!the!hierarchy!of!plans!are!clear,!as!
are!their!references!across.!!The!SCS!2008!to!2011!was!developed!by!the!
council,!working!with!partners.!!Its!vision!is:!!'We!will!make!Bromsgrove!
District!a!better!place!to!work,!live!and!visit!by!driving!forward!change'.!!
The!SCS!was!updated!in!October!2008!to!ensure!a!fit!to!the!new!LAA.!!
The!SCS!priorities!include!Town!Centre!redevelopment!(including!
transport:!railway!station!redevelopment,!housing!and!Longbridge!
regeneration.!!The!Bromsgrove!Partnership!(the!LSP)!has!adopted!the!six!
LAA!objectives.!!!

44.Progress!on!RSS!has!been!slow!and!this!has!impacted!on!the!council’s!
ability!to!progress!the!Core!Strategy.!!In!addition!there!have!been!some!
tensions!with!neighbouring!councils!(Redditch!and!Stratford-on-!Avon)!and!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 20!
Page 41



!!

Government!Office!West!Midlands!(GOWM).!!The!pace!has!been!a!source!
of!frustration!for!the!council;!especially!it!depends!on!spatial!planning!to!
enable!the!delivery!of!the!council’s!vision.!!However,!progress!is!picking!up!
and!the!RSS!is!approaching!finalisation.!!This!means!that!the!council!can!
now!look!to!the!Core!Strategy!being!completed!by!June/July!2010.!!The!
review!team!recommend!that!a!project!plan!(that!is!a!revised!Local!
Development!Scheme!–!LDS)!is!developed!for!the!work!needed!to!
complete!the!Core!Strategy!to!this!timetable.!!!

45.The!council!has!successfully!managed!a!major!shift!in!delegated!authority!
over!the!last!5!years.!!This!is!important!to!balance!the!respective!roles!of!
officers!and!members!and!will!assist!the!processing!of!applications!and!the!
resources!required!for!this.!!Just!as!important!this!rebalancing!means!that!
the!planning!service!can!involve!members!in!more!important!and!
controversial!applications.!!The!team!picked!up!that!some!members!were!
not!entirely!content!with!this!shift.!!This!is!understandable!as!the!former!
role!was!seen!as!more!actively!involved!in!‘shaping!Bromsgrove’.!!However,!
the!shift!in!delegated!authority!is!positive!and!officers!should!work!to!
support!members!to!understand!their!new!role!and!the!importance!of!this.!

46.Staff!spoke!positively!of!the!new!Customer!Service!Centre!(CSC),!which!
the!planning!service!migrated!to!on!1!October!2009,!and!the!Planning!
Surgery.!!This!provides!an!opportunity!to!both!better!manage!workloads!
and!give!face!to!face!time!to!applicants.!!The!early!signs!are!that!this!
service!is!valued!by!customers.!!A!survey!of!planning!users!was!used!to!
inform!the!offer!of!support!provided!by!the!CSC.!!It!will!be!important!to!
monitor!CSC!activity!and!user!feedback!and!to!build!on!this!for!the!future.!!

47.The!council!has!a!very!clear!vision!for!Bromsgrove!and!this!is!articulated!in!
the!SCS,!the!Council!and!the!LAA.!!!However,!this!is!a!more!inward!
looking!vision!and!does!not!position!the!council!in!the!wider!sub-
region/region!context.!!For!example,!this!might!describe!Bromsgrove!in!
relation!to:!!its!relationship!to!Birmingham,!its!‘fit’!within!the!wider!county!
council!area,!the!‘use’!of!the!greenbelt!(the!“lungs”!of!the!West!Midlands),!
the!district’s!view!of!itself!on!economic!development!and!regeneration!etc.!

48.Member!and!officer!roles!have!changed.!!This!has!happened!nationally!
since!the!implementation!of!the!Local!Government!Act!2000.!!These!
changes!need!to!be!understood!and!supported!so!that!officers!and!
members!can!adapt!to!new!roles!and!responsibilities!and!new!ways!of!
working!together.!!The!team!picked!up!blame!being!attached!to!planning!
but!this!was!not!being!opened!up!for!better!understanding!and!resolution.!!
This!contributed!to!an!unhealthy!atmosphere!and!internal!sniping.!!This!
was!one!of!the!key!features!of!the!review!and!this!is!potentially!highly!
damaging!to!the!service,!the!council!and!its!officers!and!members.!!It!is!
essential!that!this!is!opened!up!by!senior!managers,!with!HR!and!possibly!
with!external!support,!to!fully!understand!and!to!seek!to!correct!it!this.!

49.A!top!council!priority!should!be!to!finalise!the!Core!Strategy,!which!will!
provide!the!platform!for!many!council!objectives!to!be!delivered.!!There!is!a!
clear!opportunity!to!link!with!Redditch!to!combine!resources!(there!are!
already!staff!secondments!taking!place),!to!consider!joint!investment!in!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 21!
Page 42



!!

specialist!resources!e.g.!urban!design,!joint!planning!arrangements,!joint!
policies.!!In!the!future!this!could!lead!to!a!joint!Core!Strategy!across!the!
two!councils.!

50. If!the!council!decides!that!the!Core!Strategy!is!a!priority!then!it!must!
ensure!that!resources!can!deliver!this.!!The!head!of!service’s!view!is!that!
resources!are!sufficient!for!Bromsgrove’s!housing!RSS!allocation!of!4,000!
new!homes!but!not!enough!for!this!and!the!Redditch!3,000!allocation!in!
Bromsgrove.!!An!added!difficulty!is!that!it!appears!planning!resources!have!
reduced!in!recent!years.!!For!example,!the!team!were!told!that!the!housing!
moratorium!led!to!a!turnover!of!planners!leaving!to!be!involved!in!“real!
planning!work”!with!other!councils.!!The!recent!job!evaluation!had!a!
negative!impact!and!contributed!to!staff!moving!to!other!authorities!in!the!
area.!!The!review!has!recommended!a!project!planning!approach!via!a!
revised!LDS!to!inform!the!council!on!the!resources!required.!!

51.Council!uncertainties,!frustration!and!attaching!of!blame!needs!to!be!
addressed.!!The!team!believe!that!this!should!come!from!corporate!support!
for!spatial!planning!to!assume!a!‘place!shaping’!role.!!There!is!an!emerging!
timeline!to!support!such!a!move.!!It!is!intended!to!establish!a!shared!
Bromsgrove/Redditch!SMT!by!1!April!2010.!!This!could!lead!to!shared!
heads!of!service!by!July-September!2010!with!a!signed!off!RSS!by!June/July!
2010.!!The!council!should!consider!establishing!a!programme!to!submit!a!
Core!Strategy!by!June!2010!and!incorporate!within!this!corporate!support!
for!spatial!planning!to!assume!a!corporate!‘place!shaping’!role.!!This!is!an!
organisation!cultural!issue!that!is!also!picked!up!in!paragraphs!37!and!48.!!

52. !Development!management!may!help!move!spatial!planning!to!a!more!
prominent!‘place!shaping’!role.!!Development!management!(DM)!
constitutes!the!assessing!and!determining!of!applications!more!strategically!
and!moves!away!from!a!‘plan-led!system’.!!DM!is!a!change!in!planning!
culture!–!away!from!reactive!control!of!development!to!a!more!positive!
and!proactive!role!for!planning.!!It!would!necessitate!changes!in!structure!
and!the!allocation!of!resources!but!would!provide!a!freer!interplay!
between!traditional!development!control!and!policy!teams.!!With!the!RSS!
now!entering!the!final!stages!and!able!to!inform!the!Core!Strategy,!this!
may!be!an!opportune!time!for!the!council!to!consider!a!service!shift!to!
development!management.!

53. !Members!informed!the!team!of!concerns!for!future!services,!for!example!
care!villages.!!The!team!felt!the!approach!has!tended!to!prematurely!ask!
the!planning!service!to!arrive!at!planning!solutions.!!Instead!a!partnership!
approach!may!be!more!appropriate.!!For!example,!the!council!has!set!up!
Partnership!Board!to!look!at!housing!for!older!people!involving!
representatives!of!the!council,!BDHT!and!the!county!council.!!This!is!a!
useful!model!to!consider.!!Different!organisational!perspectives;!
demographic!and!geographic!data!projections;!projected!care!needs!etc.!
will!be!best!understood!by!involving!principal!partners,!including!Primary!
Care!Trust!(PCT),!Social!Care,!Age!Concern!etc.!!Such!partnerships!are!well!
placed!to!arrive!at!a!collective!understanding!and!ownership!of!the!issue!
and!its!resolution.!!It!is!at!this!point!to!then!ask!planning!how!it!might!
contribute!towards!this.!!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 22!
Page 43



!!

Innovation, learning and excellence!
!

Strengths 
 

! DC!staff!run!regular!training!sessions!for!members!covering!areas!such!as!
General!Permitted!Development!and!probity!

! Planners!have!supported!the!council!in!achieving!level!3!of!the!Equality!
Framework!for!local!government!

! The!council/service!has!been!exposed!to!external!support!through!voluntary!
engagement!with!CLG,!IDeA!and!other!local!authorities!=!support!and!
challenge!

!

Areas for consideration 
 

" The!planning!service!needs!to!be!supported!to!assume!an!more!enabling!
and!politically!aware!role!

" S106!work!will!need!skills/expertise!to!maximise!benefits!for!the!council!

" Members!should!take!advantage!of!the!1!hour!slot!allocated!prior!to!
Planning!Committee!!

" Learning!from!customer!engagement!e.g.!answers!to!complaint!letters!are!
reportedly!not!always!satisfactory!and!lead!to!further!complaints!

" Improved!consultation!arrangements!Parish!councils!to!better!in!participate!
in!the!planning!process!

" Progress!could!be!made!on!peripheral,!short-term!improvement!work!in!the!
town!centre!prior!to!the!adoption!of!the!AAP!

!

54.The!council’s!Management!Development!Strategy!(2006)!commits!
management!development!to,!“…deliver!service!improvement!by!creating!
a!knowledgeable!and!highly!skilled!management!team...”!!This!is!
reinforced!by!the!Modern!Manager!Framework!that!sets!standards!for!
managerial!performance.!!!

55.Training!provision!seems!well!developed!for!officers!and!members.!!
Members!confirmed!they!are!happy!with!the!training!received!to!date!and!
that!this!is!making!them!more!informed!on!planning!matters.!!Recent!
training!has!been!run!in-house!by!staff!for!members.!!The!CAPS!Uniform!
system!has!recently!been!introduced!and!all!staff!have!received!training!on!
this.!!!The!council!has!supported!staff!training!at!the!University!of!Central!
England!(UCE)!and!continuing!professional!development!(CPD)!via!County!
and!Districts!Planning!Officers!Group!(CADPOG).!

56.Personal!development!reviews!(PDRs)!are!undertaken!every!six!months!for!
staff!and!form!an!integral!part!of!the!business!system!by!assessing!work!
loads,!performance!against!targets!and!identifying!training!needs.!
Following!PDR!interviews!a!training!and!development!plan!is!produced.!!
Most!of!the!staff!we!talked!to!could!identify!the!‘golden!thread’!in!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 23!
Page 44



!!

understanding!how!their!specific!role!and!objectives!contribute!to!the!
service!plan!and!up!through!to!the!SCS!and!Council!Plan.!!

57.There!is!currently!no!planning!enforcement!expertise!in!the!council’s!legal!
team.!!The!new!enforcement!officer!is!in!the!process!of!putting!together!a!
formal!procedure!pack!with!the!aim!of!providing!a!legal!framework.!This!
will!help!to!speed!up!the!enforcement!process!and!provide!officers!with!
clarity.!!A!draft!Enforcement!Policy!has!been!prepared.!!Members!are!keen!
to!see!enforcement!available!to!the!planning!service.!!The!council!are!
recommended!to!establish!the!above!arrangements!and!monitor!their!
application.!!In!view!of!member!concern!on!enforcement!it!may!be!worth!
reporting!to!CMT!and!cabinet.!

58.Equalities!represent!one!of!the!council’s!four!key!values.!Planning!was!
commended!by!internal!colleagues!as!actively!supporting!equality!and!
diversity.!!The!council!has!achieved!Level!3!of!the!Equality!Framework!for!
local!government!in!April!2009!and!is!working!with!other!councils!in!
Worcestershire!on!this.!!The!newly!designed,!more!accessible!website!
content!management!system!(Ameda!C)!has!been!implemented!which!
improves!website!use!but!also!gathers!user!feedback!for!continuing!design!
and!development.!The!location!of!the!new!Customer!Service!Centre!offers!
easier!customer!access!to!the!planning!service.!!

59.The!council!acknowledges!that!it!used!to!be!inward!looking!but!this!has!
changed!and!it!is!receptive!to!the!opportunities!of!support,!learning!and!
challenge!from!other!organisations.!!When!in!voluntary!engagement!the!
CLG!lead!was!permanently!located!within!the!authority.!!The!council!
invited!a!team!from!Walsall!to!act!as!a!critical!friend!in!2006.!!The!IDeA!has!
been!involved!in!providing!a!range!of!improvement!support,!including!a!
peer!review!of!customer!services.!!The!council!has!wholeheartedly!engaged!
with!partnership!working!through!the!LSP!and!LAA!formal!arrangements!
and!on!areas!of!importance,!for!example!Longbridge!and!the!town!centre!
development.!

60.Planners!are!perceived!in!some!quarters!as!not!being!innovative!and!being!
risk!averse.!!This!view!was!expressed!by!members,!officers!and!one!
developer.!!Members!have!described!the!system!as!an!“obstacle!course”!
put!in!the!way!of!development.!!An!example!offered!was!the!case!of!
Mouldsley!Hall!old!peoples’!home!development!where!applications!were!
repeatedly!refused.!!The!perception!was!that!planners!were!determinedly!
not!allowing!development!that,!through!persistence,!was!eventually!
approved.!!This!point!relates!to!those!made!in!paragraphs!37,!48!and!51!
above!and!points!to!cultural!issues!that!need!to!be!addressed.!!These!
negative!perceptions!are!being!reinforced!over!time,!with!planning!staff!
describing!a!“heads!down”!bunker!outlook.!

61.The!view!was!expressed!that!the!council!had!not!been!successful!in!
obtaining!the!most!gain!from!developers!in!S106!negotiations.!!This!is!an!
area!of!expertise!often!missing!in!councils!and!with!the!prospect!of!
housing!moratorium!coming!to!an!end!it!may!be!worth!considering!the!
appointment!(perhaps!shared!with!Redditch)!of!a!designated!Planning!
Obligations!S106!officer!with!negotiation!experience.!!A!view!was!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 24!
Page 45



!!

expressed!to!the!team!that!the!council!had!not!been!good!at!publishing!
information!about!how!the!S106!monies!are!spent.!It!may!be!worth!the!
council!considering!a!publicly!available!system!to!provide!information!on!
S106!funded!schemes.!

62.The!council!has!recently!introduced!a!one!hour!time!slot!before!Planning!
Committee!for!members!to!discuss!planning!issues!with!officers.!
Unfortunately!so!far!no!members!have!taken!up!this!offer.!!This!is!a!good!
opportunity!to!clear!matters!before!going!into!a!public!arena!and!can!be!
valuable!preparation!for!the!smoother!running!of!a!planning!committee.!!
The!peer!review!team!recommend!that!members!be!encouraged!by!the!
chief!executive,!executive!director!and!Leader!of!council!to!attend!these!
sessions.!!Further!support!might!come!from!group!leaders,!the!portfolio!
holder!and!the!chair!of!planning!committee.!

63.Comments!were!made!to!the!review!team!that!responses!to!complaint!
letters!are!not!satisfactory!and!provoke!further!complaints.!One!comment!
made!was!that!the!handling!of!complaints!was!managed!in!a!“high!
handed”!manner!and!that!the!service!should!show!more!customer!
sensitivity.!!The!review!team!have!no!evidence!to!confirm!or!deny!this!but!
it!may!be!an!area!for!further!consideration.!

64.The!review!team!were!told!that!was!a!lack!of!formal!training!given!to!
parish!councils!on!the!online!planning!system.!!The!online!consultation!
process!was!felt!not!to!be!user!friendly!and!parish!councillors,!who!are!
required!to!comment!on!multiple!applications!and!plans,!found!it!
frustrating!having!to!re-enter!their!contact!details!for!each!submission.!!
Further!discussions!with!parish!councils!on!training!support!would!go!some!
way!to!maintaining!good!relations.!!

65.Peripheral!works!for!the!town!centre,!such!as!replacement!of!paving!and!
street!furniture,!have!been!suggested!by!a!number!of!sources,!including!
Worcestershire!County!Council,!pending!the!commencement!of!full!scale!
redevelopment.!!This!would!provide!a!‘quick!win’!for!members!and!
members!of!the!public!following!the!stalling!of!the!town!centre!
development!and!listing!of!Parkside!School.!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

!

 

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 25!
Page 46



!!

Shared knowledge and evidence 
 
Strengths 
 

! Strategic!Housing!Market!Assessment!provides!comprehensive!picture!of!
housing!needs!in!the!sub!regional!context!

! SCS!and!Council!Plan!are!underpinned!by!the!Bromsgrove!profile!

! SHLAA!in!place,!AMR!published!annually!

! Exploring!potential!for!joint!planning!documents!with!Redditch!

Areas for consideration 
 

" Sharing!of!!joint!studies!with!other!local!government!partners!

" More!systematic!way!of!gathering!learning!so!that!it!can!be!shared!across!
the!organisation!

!

 
66.The!Strategic!Housing!Market!Assessments!are!a!positive!step!to!providing!
the!council!with!an!understanding!of!housing!need!and!the!location!for!
this.!!The!council!is!committed!to!ensuring!the!HMAs!are!kept!up!to!date!
and!they!will!be!invaluable!for!the!Core!Strategy!and!the!council’s!Housing!
Strategy.!!

67.The!council’s!Sustainable!Community!Strategy!and!Council!Plan!are!directly!
linked!to!the!spatial!planning!vision!set!out!in!the!draft!Core!Strategy.!!The!
strength!of!these!key!strategies!is!confirmed!by!the!Audit!Commission!in!
the!CPA!report!stating!that,!“Community!ambitions!link!well!with!and!
support!county!wide!ambitions.”!

68.The!Strategic!Housing!Land!Availability!Assessment!(SHLAA)!has!been!
completed!(April!2009)!and!identifies!potential!areas!for!future!housing!
development.!![Local!authorities!are!required!to!identify!broad!locations!
and!specific!sites!that!will!enable!continuous!delivery!of!housing!for!at!least!
15!years!from!the!date!of!adoption!of!the!LDF.!!Authorities!are!expected!to!
provide!this!robust!information!in!the!form!of!a!SHLAA,!which!will!form!a!
key!component!of!the!LDF!evidence!base.!!This!evidence!is!needed!to!help!
support!the!delivery!of!sufficient!land!for!housing!to!meet!district!housing!
requirements,!as!determined!by!the!RSS.!!This!will!be!important!for!
ongoing!development!of!the!Core!Strategy!and!local!discussions!with!
residents,!landowners!and!developers.]!!The!RSS!Phase!Two!Revision!
(September!2009)!may!mean!the!council!has!to!review!the!SHLAA!in!view!
of!changing!housing!numbers.!

69.Working!relations!have!already!been!established!with!Redditch!Borough!
Council!from!the!LDF!preparations!and!responses!to!the!RSS.!!This!has!
been!consolidated!by!the!shared!chief!executive!arrangements.!!This!
provides!a!platform!for!further!joint!service!working!and!developing!joint!
planning!documents.!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 26!
Page 47



!!

70.There!are!also!important!opportunities!to!share!in!the!cost!of!joint!studies!
with!other!local!government!partners!such!as!the!county!council,!
neighbouring!district!councils,!the!Regional!Improvement!and!Efficiency!
Partnership!and!the!Regional!Development!Agency!(Advantage!West!
Midlands)!on!matters!such!as!economic!development,!development!
economics!and!the!development!and!assessment!of!alternative!sites!for!
development.!!This!could!also!include!specific!subject!areas!such!as!the!
SHLAA!(see!paragraph!66!above),!a!Strategic!Flood!Risk!Assessment,!and!
Employment!Land!Review!etc.!

71.This!report!has!acknowledged!the!improvement!progress!made!by!the!
council!in!a!short!time.!!The!priorities!of!improvement!suggest!to!the!
review!team!that!there!has!been!less!work!conducted!to!systematically!
gather!learning!so!that!it!can!be!shared!across!the!organisation.!!While!this!
is!entirely!understandable!given!the!priorities!of!the!council!it!is!
recommended!that!for!the!next!phase!of!improvement!that!attention!is!
given!to!this.!

!

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 27!
Page 48



!!

Spatial!planning!peer!review!report!Bromsgrove!District!Council! 28!

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contact details 
For!further!information!concerning!the!peer!review!of!planning!in!Bromsgrove!District!
Council!please!contact!Andrew!Winfield,!the!IDeA’s!peer!review!manager:!!
!

Email:! ! andrew.winfield@idea.gov.uk!
Telephone:! 07786!542754!

!
More!information!on!peer!reviews!and!the!work!of!the!Improvement!and!Development!
Agency!and!Planning!Advisory!Service!please!visit!www.idea.gov.uk!or!www.pas.gov.uk.!
!
If!you!would!like!to!receive!this!report!in!large!print,!Braille!or!another!format!please!email!
guy.head@idea.gov.uk!
!
!

!
!

!
!

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



July 2010 Position Statement and Action Plan from October 2009 Spatial Planning Peer Review 
 
Key Recommendation 
 

Officer Comments Suggested Actions Who is 
Responsible 

Timescale Challenge 

 The recommendations of the peer 
review team are set out under the 
headings of the benchmark for the 
'ideal' authority.  The peer review 
team recommends that the 
Council: 
 

     

Achieving outcomes 
 

     

i. 
 

Considers this report with a view 
to making the planning service 
one which is overtly supportive of 
and key to delivery of the council's 
objectives 
 

Officer agree Remind officers of the 
importance in the role of 
Planning Services in the 
delivery of Council 
objectives to include 
reminder from HoS that 
Planning policy prep. 
and the D.C. process are 
key tools for 
implementing the 
Council Plan and 
Sustainability 
Community Strategy 
 
Alterations to format of 
Planning Committee 
reports so that, where 
applicable, the proposal 
is presented in the 
context of the Council 
Plan or Sustainable 
Community strategy 
(SCS) 
 
Ensure synergies 
between SCS vision and 
objectives and those of 

Ruth Bamford  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
HoS to meet 
with Director 

 

P
age 51



emerging planning policy 
 
Planning service to be 
actively engaged in early 
stages of SCS evidence 
collection and 
preparation. 
 

of Policy, 
Performance 
and 
Partnerships 
quarterly  

ii. Formally lifts the housing 
moratorium based on the RSS 
Phase Two Revision figures and 
the recent experience of 
successful planning appeals and 
Ombudsman report findings 
against the council 
 

Officers agreed and this has 
already been achieved via 
Report to LDF working Party, 
delivered on the 15th April 2010  

N/A Mike Dunphy N/A N/A 

iii. Develops a policy position for the 
development of larger sites on the 
edge of Bromsgrove Areas of 
Development Restraint (ADR), 
which would permit a mix of 
housing including affordable 
housing and other uses located in 
the most sustainable locations 
[The Advisory Team for Large 
Applications (ATLAS) has been 
engaged by the council, since the 
peer review, to assist on strategic 
site allocations.] 
 

The revocation of the RSS has 
created huge uncertainty in the 
planning system, particularly 
with regard to housing targets 
and the current policy position 
on ADRs. Officers currently 
continuing with work to justify 
site allocations in preparation 
for the imposition of a new 
planning system. 

Ensure Council engages 
fully in consultation 
processes of new 
planning legislation. 
 
Publish policy position 
for ADRs in Draft Core 
Strategy. 

Mike Dunphy 
 
 
 
 
 
Mike Dunphy 

TBC 
 
 
 
 
 
November 
2010 

To influence the 
content of the new 
planning system 
 
 
 
To ensure 
development of the 
ADRs benefits the 
district as much as 
possible 

iv. Produce a masterplan for 
designated ADR sites to 
encourage quality design and 
development on more sustainable 
sites 
 

Indicative masterplans already 
prepared by developers; 
further advice to be sought 
from key stakeholders. 

Consult urban designer 
on the content of the 
indicative masterplans, 
and if necessary 
commission independent 
master plan to be 
prepared. 

Mike Dunphy Draft Core 
Strategy 2 to 
be published 
in November 
for 
consultation 

Ensure new 
developments are 
high quality and 
sustainable but 
also deliverable. 
New residential 
development 
needs to be 
delivered in order 
to begin to address 

P
age 52



the imbalance in 
the housing market   
 

v. Develops Supplementary 
Planning Documents (SPDs) for 
planning obligations and 
affordable housing that clearly 
states council intentions for these 
areas 
 

Affordable housing SPD 
prepared and consulted on 
although not adopted due to 
the consultation responses 
questioning the legitimacy of 
the SPD 

Seek legal advice on the 
adoption of the 
affordable housing SPD 
and the creation of a 
planning obligations 
SPD ahead of core 
Strategy. 
 
Supplement existing 
local plan policies. 

Ruth Bamford  
Mike Dunphy 

July 2010 To find a way to 
create new policy 
quickly to fill gaps 
and update old 
planning policies. 

vi. Undertakes an assessment, with 
Redditch, of the resources needed 
for both councils to work together 
to develop their Core Strategies 
for simultaneous submission 
 

Initial work with RBC 
undertaken, however unclear 
at this stage if emerging 
planning system will require 
close working on planning 
policy with RBC 

Through the Joint HoS 
both Councils will 
monitor the 
appropriateness of 
working together on 
planning policy 
preparation.  

Ruth Bamford Ongoing To ensure the Core 
Strategy is found 
sound and 
approved by the 
Planning 
Inspectorate 

Integration and collaboration 
 

     

vii. 
 
 

Ensures the emerging Core 
Strategy incorporates a vision 
describing Bromsgrove and its 
role within the region 
 

Core Strategy already contains 
a vision although not specific 
to region. Abolishment of 
regional planning likely to 
diminish importance of stating 
regional position. 

Redraft Core Strategy 
vision, and ensure all 
Core Strategy policies 
clearly deliver this vision  

Mike Dunphy November 
2010 

To ensure the Core 
Strategy is found 
sound and 
approved by the 
Planning 
Inspectorate 

viii. Considers engagement with 
Birmingham City Council and 
Worcestershire County Council at 
strategic director level given the 
importance of the Longbridge and 
Bromsgrove town centre/railway 
station development for the 
council [Such engagement has 
commenced since the peer 
review.] 
 

Engagement already 
implemented 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

P
age 53



Leading and engaging the community 
 

     

ix. Monitors the usage of the website 
and survey users to obtain 
feedback on the website 
'useability' to inform future 
development 
 

When Peer review visited (Oct 
2009), changes had just been 
undertaken to website to 
reflect County-wide approach. 
 

Planning and 
regeneration service to 
review structure and 
content of Webpages 
 
Work with 
Communications dept, 
ICT to set up user 
survey. 
 
Use website to advertise 
department more – 
explain our regulatory 
function and promote our 
achievements. (S106) 

Helena Plant  
Dale Birch 
Mike Dunphy 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Meeting in 
Quarter 2. 
 
 
Survey in 
Quarter 3. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Survey annually 

x. Continues to monitor the 
Customer First priority.  A good 
start has been made but for the 
planning service it is at an early 
stage.  This should be regularly 
monitored and reviewed by the 
Head of Planning and 
Regeneration and the Executive 
Director. 
 
 
 

Since the peer review, 
Development Control has 
undertaken a customer 
satisfaction survey, and 
Strategic planning have 
completed their customer first 
action plan. 

Implement Customer 
First Action Plan. 
 
Piggy back Agents’ 
Forum idea in order to 
learn agents’ views as 
customers. 
 
Improve qualitative 
rather than quantative 
measures for customers. 
 
Explore training 
opportunities that may 
be available corporately 
for Customer actions in 
Regulatory environment 
may be available 
Corporately.  
 

Helena Plant Customer 
First Action 
Plan Q2. 
Hold Agents’ 
forum end 
Q2. 
 
 
Liaise with 
Chairman 
and seek 
support from 
Legal 
Services 
 
Explore 
alternative 
measures of 
success 

Seek to hold 
Agents’ Forum 
quarterly 

xi. Reviews the current member / 
office working arrangements so 
that members are able to 

Officers agree that there is a 
need for good systems of 
working arrangements with 

Introduce pre-app 
protocol to enable 
Members to be involved. 

Helena Plant 
 
 

Report to 
CMT and 
Cabinet Q3. 

 

P
age 54



discharge their community 
leadership role, informed by 
professional officer advice 
 

Members. Furthermore officers 
could review information that is 
available to Members and 
identify possible gaps and 
advise members of information 
availability  

 
Maintain monthly 
meetings of HoS 
Portfolio holder and 
Leader  
 
Officers to review 
information that is 
available to Members 
and identify possible 
gaps and advise 
members of information 
availability  
 

 
Ruth Bamford 

Management 
 

     

xii. Produces a project plan (that is a 
revised Local Development 
Scheme - LDS) for the work 
needed to complete the Core 
Strategy by June/July 2010. 
 

New LDS submitted prior to 
change of government, GOWM 
have confirmed timetable is 
acceptable  

Prepare Core Strategy in 
line with published LDS 

Mike Dunphy Draft to be 
published 
November 
2010 

To ensure the Core 
Strategy is found 
sound and 
approved by the 
Planning 
Inspectorate 

xiii. Develops planning resource 
capacity.  These could include: 
moving to development 
management* and encouraging 
the resource flow from 
development control to policy 
planning and vice versa; and 
combining resources with 
Redditch, from secondments to 
joint investment in specialist 
resources e.g. urban design, 
planning obligation (S106) 
negotiations, joint planning 
arrangements and joint policies. 
 
[*Development management (DM) 
constitutes the assessing and 
determining of applications more 

Consideration of DM approach 
is included as Key Deliverable 
in Business Plan. 
 
Work associated with this KD 
will underpin this benchmark. 

Implement KD in service 
plan re. development 
management  
 
Under current working 
arrangements for both 
Councils, HoS should 
encourage resource 
plan. 

Ruth Bamford 
 

Ongoing  

P
age 55



strategically and moves away 
from a 'plan-led system'.  DM is a 
change in planning culture - away 
from reactive control of 
development to a more positive 
and proactive role for planning.] 
 
 

xiv. Addresses the practice within the 
council of attaching blame to the 
planning service.  This practice 
needs to be carefully opened up 
by senior managers, with HR and 
possibly with external support, to 
fully understand the issues, how 
they came about and the actions 
needed to address these. 
 

New HoS has not experienced 
planning service being blamed 
although has included actions 
to ensure it does not happen. 

Maintain monthly 
meetings of HoS 
Portfolio holder and 
Leader  
 
Introduce Members’ 
involvement in pre-
applications discussions 
 
Planning reports altered 
to include SCS and 
corporate plan issues 
where applicable  
 
Encourage early informal 
Member rapport with 
case officers / managers 
about planning 
applications 

Ruth Bamford   

Innovation, learning and excellence 
 

     

xv. Should ensure maximum gain 
from S106 negotiations from 
developers in the future 
development of ADRs.  This could 
be assisted by considering the 
appointment of a specialist 
negotiating officer (perhaps 
shared with Redditch) or of buying 
in this expertise when required. 
 

Legal Advice sought on ability 
to prepare planning obligations 
SPD. Planning officers have 
attended negotiation skills 
training. 

To have appropriate 
planning policy in place 
to receive S106 
obligations 
 
Investigate appointment 
of specialist negotiator 
for significant planning 
applications  

Ruth Bamford 
Mike Dunphy 
 
 
 
Mike Dunphy 
Helena Plant 
Dale Birch 

Subject to 
legal advice 
 
 
 
As required 

To ensure viable 
development takes 
place in difficult 
financial 
circumstances 
which contributes 
fully to the aims of 
the Council 

xvi. The Chief Executive, Executive This is well promoted by Promote pre committee By officer ASAP To have good 

P
age 56



Director and Leader of Council 
actively encourage Members to 
attend the one hour time slot 
provided before Planning 
Committee for Members to 
discuss planning issues with 
officers 
 

officers – need Members to 
understand the role of the pre-
Committee meeting as an aid 
to focussed discussion. 

site visits  
 
 
Actively encourage Chair 
to promote attendance 
before formal committee 
starts . 
 
 
Draw out examples from 
the meeting that could 
have been addressed at 
the pre-Committee 
meeting 

leading site 
visits. 
 
Planning 
Chairman. 
 
 
Planning 
Chairman 

attendance at this 
pre-meeting slot. 

Shared knowledge and evidence 
 

     

xvii. Considers and develops 
opportunities for sharing the cost 
of joint studies with other local 
government partners in the region 
 
 
 

Already happens to some 
extent (training shared with 
other LPA’s) via groups such 
as DC Forum 
 
Joint Strategic Flood risk 
assessment commissioned for 
BDC and RBC 
 
BDC have worked closely with 
BCC on Longbridge APP for 
past 5 years sharing costs 
where necessary 
 

When joint studies 
required – first 
consideration to be 
potential for sharing with 
local government 
partners 

All to note. When 
situation 
arises 

To identify savings 
as a result. 

xviii. Develop better ways to capture 
and transfer learning.  This is so 
the council is able to identify good 
practice elsewhere, to understand 
how this is achieved and 
considers application in other 
service areas. 
 

Officers do share knowledge 
informally in the office, but the 
process could be improved 
and formalised. 

To provide a framework 
for understanding the 
characteristics of an 
excellent planning 
authority  and to promote 
learning and 
implementation with 
officers and members 

Ruth Bamford   

 
Y:\Development Plans\Ruth Bamford\July 2010 Position Statement and Action Plan.doc 

P
age 57



P
age 58

T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 
1 AUGUST TO 30 NOVEMBER 2010 

 
This Forward Plan lists the Key Decisions which it is proposed to take during the period 1 August  to 30 November 2010. Key Decisions 
are executive decisions which must be taken or delegated by the Council’s Cabinet and relate to matters which fall within the Council’s 
agreed Budget and Policy Framework.  
 
Key Decisions are those executive decisions which are likely to: 
 
(i) result in the Council incurring expenditure, foregoing income or the making of savings in excess of £50,000 or which are 

otherwise significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 
 
(ii) be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the district;  
 
Key Decisions will include: 

 
1. A decision which would result in any expenditure or saving by way of a reduction in expenditure of £50,000 provided the 

expenditure or saving is specifically approved in the Medium Term Financial Plan.   
 

2. A virement of any amount exceeding £50,000 provided it is within any virement limits approved by the Council; 
 

3. Any proposal to dispose of any Council asset with a value of £50,000 or more or which is otherwise considered significant by 
the Corporate Property Officer; 

 
4. Any proposal to cease to provide a Council service (other than a temporary cessation of service of not more than 6 months). 
 
5. Any proposal which would discriminate for or against any minority group. 
 
Further details of each Key Decision are appended to the Forward Plan. To assist with internal forward planning, this Plan also lists 
other non-key decisions which the Cabinet is expected to make during the specified four month period. The Forward Plan is updated and 
published on the Council’s website on a monthly basis. 

A
genda Item

 6

P
age 59



 
 
CABINET MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillor R. Hollingworth Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Policy, Performance, Partnerships and 

Economic Development 
Councillor G. N. Denaro Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Resources (including Customer Services, Legal, 

Equalities, Democratic Services and Human Resources) 
Councillor M. J. A. Webb Portfolio Holder for Community Services (including Leisure, Cultural Services, Environmental 

Services and Crime and Disorder/CCTV) 
Councillor Mrs. J. Dyer M.B.E.  Portfolio Holder for Planning and Regeneration 
Councillor Dr. D. W. P. Booth Portfolio Holder for Business Transformation with special responsibility for the Town Centre 

Regeneration 
Councillor P. J. Whittaker   Portfolio Holder for Regulatory Services and Strategic Housing 
Councillor Mrs. M. A. Sherrey  Portfolio Holder for Older People, the Young and Vulnerable People 
Councillor R. D. Smith Portfolio Holder for Community Cohesion and Engagement 
  
 
 
 

CONSULTATION AND REPRESENTATIONS 
 

For Key Decisions the summary document appended to the Forward Plan sets out details of any proposed consultation 
process. Any person/organisation not listed who would like to be consulted or who wishes to make representations on the 
proposed decision are encouraged to get in touch with the relevant report author as soon as possible before the proposed date 
of the decision. Contact details are provided.  
 
Alternatively you may write to The Head of Legal, Equalities and Democratic Services, The Council House, Burcot Lane, 
Bromsgrove B60 1AA or email: k.firth@bromsgrove.gov.uk  

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 60



 
Item 
No. 
 
 

Decision 
Taker & 
Expected                                        
Date of 
Decision  

 
 

Original 
Expected 
Date of 
Decision 

 

 Proposed Decision 
 
 

Type of  
Decision 

 
(Key or 
Non-Key) 

Lead Councillor/ 
Portfolio Holder 

Comments 

1 Cabinet 
4 August 2010 
 

 Finance & Performance Monitoring 
Report  - Quarter 1 2010/11 

Non-Key Councillors  
R. Hollingworth and 
G. N. Denaro 

 

2 
 

Cabinet 
4 August 2010 
 

 Spatial Planning Services – Peer Review 
Action Plan 

Non-Key Councillor 
Mrs. J. Dyer M.B.E. 

 

3 
 

Cabinet 
4 August 2010 
 

 Town Centre Frontage Improvement 
Renovation Scheme 

Non-Key Councillors 
Mrs. J. Dyer M.B.E. 
and D. W. P. Booth  

 

       

4 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 
2010 
 

 Annual Report  2009/10 Non-Key* Councillor  
R. Hollingworth 

* Cabinet to make any 
recommendations to 
the full Council 

5 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 
2010 
 

 Council Plan 2011-14 Part 1 Non-Key* Councillor  
R. Hollingworth 

* Cabinet to make any 
recommendations to 
the full Council 

6 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 
2010 
 

Cabinet 
2 December 
2009 

Arts and Events Strategy 2010/11 to 
2013/14 
 

Key Councillor 
M. J. A. Webb 

Delayed by officers for 
further consideration 

7 
 

Cabinet 
8 September 
2010 
 

Cabinet 
4 August 
2010 
 

Artrix/Right of Way – Blue Light Centre 
 

Non-Key Councillor  
G. N. Denaro 
 

Delayed by officers for 
further consideration 

8 Cabinet 
8 September 
2010 

Cabinet 
4 November 
2009 

Community Engagement Strategy Review Non-Key Councillor 
R. D. Smith 

Deferred to take 
account of new  
business plans 

P
age 61



9 Cabinet 
8 September 
2010 

 Longbridge – Memorandum of 
Understanding 

Non-Key Councillor 
M. J. A. Webb 

Councillor R. 
Hollingworth 

       

10 
 

Cabinet 
6 October 
2010 

 Community Strategy Annual Report 
2010/11 

Non-Key* Councillor  
R. Hollingworth 

* Cabinet will make 
recommendations to 
the full Council 

11 
 

Cabinet 
6 October 
2010 

 Communications Strategy Review Non-Key Councillor 
R. Hollingworth 

 

12 Cabinet 
6 October 
2010 

Cabinet 
1 September 
2010 

Designation of New Conservation Area – 
Hewell 

Non-Key Councillor 
Mrs. J. Dyer M.B.E. 

Delayed by officers to 
allow more time for 
public consultation 

       

13 Cabinet 
3 November 
2010 

 Statement of Licensing Policy Non-Key* Councillor 
P. J. Whittaker 

* Cabinet will make 
recommendations to 
the full Council 

14 Cabinet 
3 November 
2010 

Cabinet  
2 June 
2010 

Garden Waste Service – Future 
Development 

Key Councillor 
M. J. A. Webb 

Delayed by Members 
for further financial 
information 

15 Cabinet 
3 November 
2010 

 Finance & Performance Monitoring 
Report  - Quarter 2 2010/11 

Non-Key Councillors  
R. Hollingworth and 
G. N. Denaro 

 

16 Cabinet 
3 November 
2010 

 Financial Regulations Non-Key Councillor  
G. N. Denaro 

 

 

P
age 62



KEY DECISION 
 

Proposed to be made by the Cabinet 
on 8 September 2010 

 
LEAD MEMBER/PORTFOLIO HOLDER 

 
Cllr Mike Webb 

ITEM 
 
Arts and Events Strategy 2010 – 2013 

WARDS AFFECTED 
 
All Wards 
 
 

DOCUMENTS TO BE CONSIDERED BY 
THE DECISION TAKER 
 
Report of the Deputy Head of Street 
Scene and Community 
 
REPORT AUTHOR –  
Huw Moseley 
Arts Development and Special Events 
Officer 
01527 881381 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SUMMARY 
 
 
The Arts and Events Strategy will outline 
the future delivery of Arts and Events 
through out the District, defining 
partnerships, identifying future priority 
areas for both investment and 
development, and will be supported by a 
comprehensive action plan detailing key 
future projects and areas of delivery.  The 
Arts and Events strategy will include 
identification of significant partnerships 
and define key objectives linked to 
Worcestershire Arts Partnership.  The Arts 
and Events Strategy will be a key 
document in guiding the districts 
investment in Arts and Events, and 
Bromsgrove Arts Alive!  Arts Forum will be 
a key partner in delivering the strategy. 
Artrix assisting to shape the vision of the 
residents. 
 

REASONS FOR BEING ON THE 
FORWARD PLAN 
 
Significant effect on the future delivery of 
Arts and Events across the district. 

Item No. 6 

P
age 63



 
CONSULTATION DETAILS 
 
Stakeholders 
 
Worcestershire Arts Partnership 
 
Bromsgrove Arts Alive – Arts Forum 
 
Artrix – Bromsgrove Arts Centre 
 
Youth Service, Children’s Services, 
Worcestershire CC 
 
Celebratory Events and Sponsor 
ship Group 
 
Community Safety 
 
Arts Practitioners 
 
Chair persons of Community Events 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Method of Consultation 
 
Draft document including Action Plan 
provided for comments to all 
Stakeholders.  Draft document amended 
accordingly.  Format of consultation will 
be through questionnaires, group 
meetings and key partner meetings. 

 
 
 
Consultation Period or Dates 
 
1st August through to 16th October 2009. 

 
 DECISIONS TO BE MADE IN PARTNERSHIP WITH 

 
N/A 

P
age 64



Item No. 14   
       KEY DECISION 

 

Proposed to be made by  
the Cabinet on  

                                                                  3 November 2010  
 
LEAD MEMBER/ PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER  
 
Mike Webb 
 

 ITEM 
GARDEN WASTE SERVICE REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 

WARDS AFFECTED 
All wards affected 
 
 

DOCUMENTS TO BE 
CONSIDERED BY THE 
DECISION TAKER 
 
Garden Waste Service report 
and any attached appendices 
 
REPORT AUTHOR 
Guy Revans  
Head of Environmental Services 
01527 881703 

SUMMARY 
The report requires members to make decision on 
financial, strategic and operational matter that will 
directly affect the future of the garden waste service. 
Decisions need to be made over the cost of the service 
for future years; development of customer payment 
methods; customer identification methods to allow 
accurate recording and control of customers and non 
customers; bin sizes; communicating to our customers 
year on year; development of a trading account for the 
service; budget for ongoing brown bin provision; move to 
rear end loaders and use of a new composting facility. 
Some of the issues will have a substantial financial 
impact on the service, both in set up and operational 
costs however will enhance the experience of the 
customer however it will enable the service to be 
managed effectively.  

REASONS FOR BEING ON THE 
FORWARD PLAN 
 
The areas outlined in the summary 
will have a direct affect on the future 
of the garden waste service, its 
ability to generate income and to 
operate as a commercial operation. 
 
 As at 1st April 2010 15,169 
households have applied for this 
service and these customers are 
spread across all wards within the 
district.  

 

P
age 65



 

CONSULTATION DETAILS 
 
Stakeholders 
NA 

Method of Consultation 
 
 

Consultation period or dates 
 

 
 
 
 

DECISION TO BE MADE IN PARTNERSHIP WITH 
Redditch Borough Council 
 

 

P
age 66



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  
 

 1 

OVERVIEW BOARD WORK PROGRAMME 2010-2011 
 
Responsible Portfolio Holder  Cllr G. N. Denaro  
Responsible Head of Service Claire Felton – Head of Legal, 

Equalities and Democratic Services 
Non-Key Decision 
 
1.  SUMMARY 
 
1.1 This report presents the new Overview Board Work Programme arising from 

the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Board Work Planning on 15th June 2010 
and outlines the process and rationale for the Overview and Scrutiny Work 
planning process for 2010-2011.   
 

1.2 Overview and Scrutiny is a vehicle for non-executive elected Members of 
the Council to engage in the local decision making process.  The objective 
of the work planning process is to identify key issues for consideration 
where Overview and Scrutiny can make a constructive impact upon the 
local democratic decision making process, to help the Council and its 
community partners achieve their vision and objectives and promote 
community well being.   

 
2.  RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1 Members of the Overview Board are requested to:  

a. note the Overview and Scrutiny work planning process for 2010-
2011; 

b. agree the Overview Board Work Programme for 2010-2011 (as set 
out in Appendix 1); 

c. identify evidence to be considered for each item on the agreed work 
programme; 

 
3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1. The role of the Overview Board is to take an overview of council and 

community services and make recommendations for improvement.  The 
Overview Board is forward looking and contributes to policy and service 
development.  The Board is made up of 7 elected councillors, which 
currently includes one vacancy.   

   
3.2. The Council Constitution requires that the Overview Board agree its 

own work programme and the topics prioritised by Members at the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Board 15th June 20120 are now presented 
to the Overview Board for ratification.   

Agenda Item 7

Page 67



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  
 

 2 

 
3.3. The Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme for the remainder of 

2010/2011 has now been drawn up and scheduled around the 
remaining meetings for this municipal year.   

 
3.4. In order to identify the key issues for Overview and Scrutiny and to make 

the process inclusive, possible items for future scrutiny work have been 
identified in a variety of ways:  

 
v Members of the Board have been asked to submit proposals for 

Overview and Scrutiny 
v The Corporate Management Team (CMT) have been asked to identify 

key issues for Overview and Scrutiny, 
v The LSP have been asked to identify key issues for Overview and 

Scrutiny, 
v The Overview Board and the Scrutiny Board have considered their 

work programmes and identified topics 
v The Council's Forward Plan and has been taken into account.   

 
3.5. Suggested topics have been put forward by elected members, by CMT and 

by the Bromsgrove Partnership.  No topics have been submitted recently by 
members of the public.  Members of the public and elected Councillors may 
also submit proposals at any time during the year.   

 
3.6. The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Board on 15th June 2010 were asked to 

consider the suggested topics and to prioritise them.  The priority topics 
identified will be scheduled and timetabled around the scheduled meetings 
for 2010/2011, according to available time and resources.   

 
Prioritising topics 
 
3.7. It is important for Overview and Scrutiny Members to carefully prioritise the 

issues that they wish to include on the scrutiny work programme. The Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Board 15th June 2010 discussed the suggestions 
and prioritised them according to the guidance criteria.  

 
3.8. The following queries were used as guidance criteria: 
 

v Is it a priority issue for the Council or the Local Strategic Partnership?   
v Is it an important issue for local residents? 
v Is it a topic where Overview and Scrutiny could feasibly and 

constructively make recommendations?   
v Is it a topic where external review would be helpful? 

Page 68



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  
 

 3 

v Is it a topic where a review could be made in time to make 
recommendations for the executive decision making process?   

v Is it a poorly performing service?   
v Is it a review that could render significant savings or value for money?   
v Is the topic strategic in scope?   

 
3.9. Selected topics do not need to answer “yes” to all of these criteria, but 

they should be used as a way of determining priorities.  
 
3.10. Members are also asked to consider the objectives of the topic, i.e. what 

the Overview and Scrutiny investigation is trying to achieve and is it 
achievable within the timescale available.   

 
3.11. The Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme should include a balance of 

different types of topics, including short, medium and long term 
investigations. Some topics could be considered at one-off, 'select 
committee' style meetings; others may be more in-depth investigatory 
scrutiny exercises.  There should ideally be a mix of topic themes across 
the Council and community partner services and reflecting the different 
Council and LSP priority areas.   

 
3.12. Using the criteria above, Members were asked to prioritise the topics as:  

 
v “High”,  
v “Medium” or  
v “Low”.   

 
3.13. Members were asked to identify no more than 8 “High” priority topics.  

These were divided between the Overview Board, the Scrutiny Board and 
the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Board (see Allocation of Topics below).  
These topics will be given greatest priority and will definitely be scheduled.   

 
3.14. The remaining topics will be scheduled in order of priority.  As it will not be 

possible to consider all topics during the year, the prioritised topics will 
tend to be scheduled first and lower priority topics will be held in reserve.  
Topics not considered in 2010-2011 may be scheduled for 2011-2012 or 
reconsidered in the work planning process.   

 
Allocation of Topics 
 
3.15. Topics are allocated to the Overview Board, the Scrutiny Board or the 

JOSB.  Overview and Scrutiny investigations may be carried out through 
Task Group working groups, which meet outside of the formal committee 

Page 69



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  
 

 4 

process to investigate particular issues and report back to one of the main 
Overview and Scrutiny Boards with a report and recommendations.   

 
3.16. Topics vary in size and scope, but it is advised that generally no more than 

1 in depth investigation be allocated to each Board.  Members will need to 
take a realistic view as to how many in depth investigations it is possible to 
operate at one time given the level of resources needed both in terms of 
Member time and officer support.  It is suggested that any issues relating 
to the number of topics be addressed by consultation between the 
Chairmen of the Boards and the Head of Legal Equalities and Democratic 
Services.   

 
3.17. The allocation of topics should allow room for additional items to be added 

during the municipal year, although it is advised that this be avoided as far 
as possible and key issues identified in advance.  Additional items may 
arise from a Call In of a Cabinet Decision, a Councillor Call for Action, a 
topic proposal submission, referral from The Council or Leader and 
Cabinet, petitions or a joint overview and scrutiny committee proposal from 
another local authority’s scrutiny committee.   

 
3.18. The Overview and Scrutiny Boards will ratify their work programmes at the 

Scrutiny Board 13th July 2010, the Overview Board 29th June 2010 and the 
Joint Overview and Scrutiny Board in July 2010.   

 
Scoping and Planning Topics 
 
3.19. The issues identified for consideration should also be defined to give a 

precise definition of the area for review.  Suggested topics may be 
rationalised where there are similar themes in two or several suggestions 
or where a suggested topic may contain more than one issue for 
consideration.   

 
3.20. Initially, Members are asked to consider the title and description of the 

topics.  
 
3.21. Secondly, Members are asked to consider and identify the precise aims 

and objectives for review, as well as possible outcomes, evidence to be 
considered and other details for each topic.   

 
3.22. This is an opportunity for Members to identify what evidence they wish to 

consider for each chosen topic.  Evidence may include: 
 
v Witnesses – people who can talk to the committee about the chosen 

topic.  These may be service users, interest groups, voluntary groups, 

Page 70



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  
 

 5 

other service providers, partner agencies, experts in the field or officers 
of the Council. 

v Documentary evidence – this may include background papers, written 
testimonials, academic research, government guidance, officer reports 
etc.   

v Site visits – places where Members should visit as part of their 
investigation, e.g. looking at service delivery on the ground, visiting 
other service providers, looking at physical environments and places 
etc.   

 
3.23. In planning their Work Programme Members should also consider and 

identify: 
 

• Key stakeholders 
Ø Decision makers (e.g. the Cabinet) 
Ø Partner Agencies   
Ø Lead Officers and Department 
Ø Service user representatives 
Ø Voluntary groups 
Ø Minority groups 
 

• Council / LSP Targets – Any strategic targets that the issues 
relate to including CAA targets and LAA targets and any other 
corporate or community targets which may be relevant.   

 
• Key Background Papers – Strategic plans, Government 

legislation or guidance, Council policies etc that are relevant to the 
policy and services concerned.   

 
3.24. Priority topics will be scheduled with the meetings for the 2010/2011 

municipal year and in line with resources.  It is suggested that topics be 
planned over 2-3 Board meetings to allow for a structured “beginning”, 
“middle” and “end” for each topic.   

 
4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no budgetary implications arising from the recommendations in 

this report.   
 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1. The Local Government Act 2000 requires Councils operating Executive 

Arrangements to include one or more Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

Page 71



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  
 

 6 

within their Constitution, which may be composed of any councillors who 
are not on the Executive Committee of the Council.   

 
5.2. Executive arrangements by a local authority must ensure that their 

overview and scrutiny committee has power (or their overview and scrutiny 
committees have power between them) to: 

a) to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 
connection with the discharge of any functions which are the 
responsibility of the executive,  

b) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the executive 
with respect to the discharge of any functions which are the 
responsibility of the executive,  

c) to review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, in 
connection with the discharge of any functions which are not the 
responsibility of the executive,  

d) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the executive 
with respect to the discharge of any functions which are not the 
responsibility of the executive,  

e) to make reports or recommendations to the authority or the executive 
on matters which affect the authority’s area or the inhabitants of that 
area. 

 
6. POLICY IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1. This process concords with existing council policy for the overview and 

scrutiny work planning process as outlined in Part 4 of the Council 
Constitution.   

 
7. COUNCIL OBJECTIVES 
 
7.1  Overview and Scrutiny links to Council Objective Two: Improvement and 

Council Objective Three: One Community.   
 
8. RISK MANAGEMENT INCLUDING HEALTH & SAFETY 

CONSIDERATIONS 
 

There are no direct risks associated with this report.  Any risks associated 
with topics selected by the Overview Board will be addressed as part of the 
scrutiny exercises.   
  

9. CUSTOMER IMPLICATIONS 
 

Page 72



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  
 

 7 

9.1 Overview and Scrutiny will contribute to improvement of service provision 
and community well being through the review of local council and 
community services.  It will also aid accountability of local services to 
service users, council tax payers and other local residents through elected 
Members as Overview and Scrutiny is led by elected councillors.   

 
10. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
10.1 Overview and Scrutiny will consider the equality and diversity implications of 

topics chosen for the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme.   
 
11. VALUE FOR MONEY IMPLICATIONS, PROCUREMENT AND ASSET 

MANAGEMENT 
 
11.1 Value for money will be considered and encouraged through the Overview 

and Scrutiny process in the scrutiny review of local services.   
 
12. CLIMATE CHANGE, CARBON IMPLICATIONS AND BIODIVERSITY 
 
12.1 There are no direct climate change, carbon implication and biodiversity 

issues arising from this report, although these issues may be considered in 
relation to overview and scrutiny investigations undertaken.   

 
13. HUMAN RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 
  
13.1 There are no HR implications arising from this report.   
 
14. GOVERNANCE/PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 
  
14.1 The identification of worthwhile topics for consideration through the 

overview and scrutiny process in line with council and LSP objectives will 
help to improve the governance of the council and help to focus on 
performance improvement.   

 
15. COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS INCLUDING SECTION 17 OF 

CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998 
  
15.1 Overview and scrutiny committees now have the power and responsibility of 

scrutinising the Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership.  This function is 
undertaken by the Joint Overview and Scrutiny Board (JOSB).  Suggestions 
for key crime and disorder issues will be useful in informing the work of the 
JOSB.   

 
16. HEALTH INEQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

Page 73



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  
 

 8 

  
16.1 There are no health inequalities implications arsing from this report.   
 
17. LESSONS LEARNT 
 
17.1 Evidence suggests that overview and scrutiny committees that are more 

focused on corporate and community objectives with worthwhile topics are 
able to make more of an impact and play a useful role in policy development 
and review.    

 
18. COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT 
 
18.1 Overview and scrutiny investigations can play a useful role of involving and 

consulting the public and community stakeholders in the development and 
review of council and community services.   

 
19. OTHERS CONSULTED ON THE REPORT 
 

Portfolio Holder 
 

NO 

Chief Executive 
 

NO 

Executive Director (S151 Officer) 
 

NO 

Executive Director – Leisure, Cultural, 
Environmental and Community Services 
 

NO 

Executive Director – Planning & Regeneration, 
Regulatory and Housing Services  
 

NO 

Director of Policy, Performance and 
Partnerships 
 

NO 

Head of Service 
 

YES 

Head of Resources  
 

NO 

Head of Legal, Equalities & Democratic 
Services 
 

YES 

Corporate Procurement Team 
 

NO 

 
 

Page 74



BROMSGROVE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD  27th July 2010  
 

 9 

20. WARDS AFFECTED 
 

All Wards 
 
21. APPENDICES 
 
 Appendix One   Overview Board Work Programme 
  
22. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

None 
 
AUTHOR OF REPORT 
 
Name:   Michael Carr, Scrutiny Officer  
E Mail:  m.carr@bromsgrove.gov.uk 
Tel:       (01527) 881407 
 
  
  
 

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
OVERVIEW BOARD 

 
WORK PROGRAMME 

 
27TH JULY 2010 

 
 
This Work Programme consists of three sections: Items for future meetings 
(including updates); current Task Groups; and Task Group Reviews. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: To consider and agree the work programme. 
 
ITEMS FOR FUTURE MEETINGS (INCLUDING UPDATES) 
 

Subject Date of 
Consideration 

Other Information 

Forward Plan of Key 
Decisions and 
Anticipated Cabinet 
Reports 
(Split into 2 items) 
- Permanent Items - 

Every Meeting of 
the Overview 
Board 

The Forward Plan consists of Key 
Decisions which it is proposed will be 
taken over forthcoming months.  
Additional information is also supplied 
in relation to anticipated reports due 
to be considered by the Cabinet 
during 2010/2011. 

Recommendation 
Tracker 
- Permanent Item - 

Quarterly A quarterly report monitoring the 
implementation of overview 
recommendations.  The next tracker 
report will be due August 2010. 

Overview Board 
Work Programme 
2010-2011  
- Permanent Item - 

Quarterly This is to consider the agreed 
Overview Board Work Programme to 
anticipate how to approach the 
investigations.     

Report from the 
quarterly meeting 
between the Leader 
and Chairman of the 
Overview Board 
- Permanent item - 

Quarterly Verbal update on discussion between 
Chairman of the Overview Board and 
the Leader due to be considered by 
the Board.  Next report will be due 
31st August 2010. 

The Worcestershire 
Older Peoples’ 
Strategy  

27th April 2010  
29th June 2010  
27th July 2010 

Written report and Presentation from 
Worcestershire County Council 
officers. 

Page 77



 2 

Garden Waste 
Services – Future 
Developments 

29th June 2010 
31st August 2010 

Written report and attendance at 
meeting by Head of Environmental 
Services 

Implementation of 
the Civil Parking 
Enforcement 
proposals 

27th April 2010 
27th July 2010  
(written report) 
TBC 

At the meeting of the Overview Board 
7th July 2009 a draft Cabinet report on 
Civil Parking Enforcement was 
considered and it was resolved that 
the Head of Street Scene and 
Community be requested to report 
back to a future meeting on the 
implementation of the Civil Parking 
Enforcement proposals upon the 
conclusion of the Agency Agreement 
with the County Council. 

Railway Station 
Development 

TBA 
 

Proposal by Cllr Mrs Griffiths 

Local Food TBA 
 

Proposal by Cllr Turner 

Bromsgrove 
Planning Policy 
 

30th March 2010 
27th April 2010 
27th July 2010 

Spatial Planning Peer Review  -
Presentation and written report from 
I&DeA. 

Licensing Policy in 
Bromsgrove (link 
with Bromsgrove 
Planning Policy) 

30th March 2010 
27th April 2010 
TBA 
 
 

 

Railway Station 
Development  

TBA  

Community 
Involvement in the 
Democratic Process 
Task Group Cabinet 
Response 

31st August 2010 Written Response from Cabinet 
following presentation of report and 
recommendations at meeting on 30th 
June 2010. 

Engaging With 
Young People in 
Bromsgrove / Every 

TBA  

Page 78



 3 

Child Matters 
Strategy, 5 key 
themes  

The work of 
Countywide Home 
Improvement 
Agency & 
Countywide Housing 
Strategy 

TBC Report from the Strategic Housing 
Manager requested following 
Overview Board meeting on 2nd 
March 2010. 

 
CURRENT OVERVIEW TASK GROUPS 
 

Current Task Groups Date Report Due Other Information 

TBA   

 
OVERVIEW TASK GROUP REVIEWS 
 

Task Group Date of Review 
(when Task Group is due to reconvene) 

Older People Task Group March 2011 
 

Community Involvement in the 
Democratic Process Task Group 

June 2011 

 

Page 79



Page 80

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting of the Overview Board held on 1st June 2010
	4 Worcestershire Older People's Strategy - Presentation
	5 Planning Peer Review - Presentation from I&DeA
	Bromsgrove DC Spatial Planning Peer Review - Final Report
	July 2010 Position Statement and Action Plan FINAL (2)

	6 Forward Plan of Key Decisions - 1st August 2010  to 30th November 2010 (for information only)
	Forward Plan Item 6 Arts  Events Strategy
	Forward Plan Item 14 Garden Waste

	7 Work Programme
	OB Work Programme 27th July 2010


